Fused Specht Polynomials and c = 1 Degenerate Conformal Blocks

AUGUSTIN LAFAY,¹ EVELIINA PELTOLA,^{1,2} JULIEN ROUSSILLON¹ augustin.lafay@aalto.fi, eveliina.peltola@aalto.fi, julien.roussillon@aalto.fi

ABSTRACT. We introduce a class of polynomials that we call fused Specht polynomials and use them to characterize irreducible representations of the fused Hecke algebra with parameter q = -1 in the space of polynomials. We apply the fused Specht polynomials to construct a basis for a space of holomorphic (chiral) conformal blocks with central charge c = 1 which are degenerate at each point. In conformal field theory, this corresponds to all primary fields having conformal weight in the Kac table. The associated correlation functions are expected to give rise to conformally invariant boundary conditions for the Gaussian free field, which has also been verified in special cases.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Fused Specht polynomials and the fused Hecke algebra with parameter $q = -1$	6
2.1. Specht polynomials and irreducible modules for the symmetric group	7
2.2. Irreducible modules for the fused Hecke algebra	8
2.3. Fused Specht polynomials	12
3. The space of $c = 1$ degenerate conformal blocks	20
3.1. Conformal blocks for unit valences $\varsigma = (1^n)$ with $n = 2N$	20
3.2. Temperley-Lieb action and braiding	22
3.3. Conformal blocks for general valences ς	25
3.4. Valenced Temperley-Lieb action	28
3.5. Covariance properties	29
3.6. BPZ partial differential equations	30
4. Fusion argument for BPZ PDEs — Proof of Theorem 3.25	34
4.1. Verma modules over the Virasoro algebra and fusion	35
4.2. Fusion: the key algebraic lemma	37
4.3. Virasoro action on the determinant line bundle	40
4.4. Fusion of BPZ PDEs — proof of Theorem 3.25	42
Appendix A. Expressions for Schur polynomials	44
References	45

¹Department of Mathematics and Systems Analysis, P.O. Box 11100, FI-00076, Aalto University, Finland. ²Institute for Applied Mathematics, University of Bonn, Endenicher Allee 60, D-53115 Bonn, Germany.

1. INTRODUCTION

This article is essentially divided into two parts, each of which is of independent interest. The first part is combinatorial and only assumes basic background in representation theory. It concerns irreducible representations of the *fused* (or valenced) *Hecke algebra*, whose building blocks are fused generalizations of the classical Specht polynomials. The second part concerns *degenerate conformal blocks* in a c = 1 conformal field theory (CFT), which we explicitly build from the fused Specht polynomials. (For readers interested in CFT or random geometry, the algebraic results from the first part can be taken as a black box.)

We begin with motivation for our results from topology/representation theory point of view on the one hand, and from CFT/random geometry point of view on the other hand.

The representation theory of the symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n is a very classical subject (initiated by Frobenius, Schur, Young, and Specht), with ubiquitous applications to various areas in mathematics and physics. It was observed in the 1930s that the combinatorics of *Young tableaux* plays a prominent role in the classification of irreducible representations of \mathfrak{S}_n [You30, FH04]. A particular class of those, yielding a complete set of irreducible representations, is termed Specht modules and spanned by *Specht polynomials* [Spe35, Pee75].

One of the basic questions in representation theory is the decomposition of a given representation into irreducible components. A structurally beautiful result (termed Schur-Weyl duality) relates the representation theory of the symmetric group to that of the special linear group SL(2, \mathbb{C}) and its Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C})$ [Sch27, Wey39, FH04]. It concerns a tensor product of defining representations \mathbb{C}^2 of $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C})$, and implies in particular that the centralizer algebra of $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C})$ on $(\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n}$ equals a quotient of the symmetric group algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$. In the case of tensor products of higher-dimensional representations, one encounters *fused* (or valenced) versions of the symmetric group algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$. More precisely, the centralizer algebra of $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C})$ on its tensor product representation $\mathbb{C}^{s_1+1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{C}^{s_d+1}$, where $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d)$ encode the *valences* of the representation, is isomorphic to a specific quotient of the *fused Hecke algebra* (viz. the algebra of "fused permutations") [FP20, Cd23]. This quotient is also known as the *valenced Temperley-Lieb algebra* [TL71, FP18b, FP20].

In topology, the Temperley-Lieb algebra can be used to construct the Jones polynomial of a link [Jon85], and its valenced version the "colored" Jones polynomial [Kas95a, Kas97, MM01]. Hecke algebras can be used to construct further generalizations, such as the HOMFLY-PT polynomial [FYH+85, PT87]. In applications to mathematical physics, one can build solutions of the Yang-Baxter equation from the Hecke algebra, which is intimately related to quantum groups (or quasitriangular Hopf algebras). We will not need to discuss the Yang-Baxter equation in the present work. Let us briefly mention, however, that "quantum" variants of the Schur-Weyl duality relate representations of quantum groups $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C}))$ to representations of (quotients of) the Hecke algebra $H_n(q)$, where $q \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ is a deformation parameter [Jim86, DJ89, Mar92] and $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. In the present article, we shall be concerned with the case of q = -1 (analogous to the classical case of q = 1)¹. We will build irreducible representations of the fused Hecke algebra $H_{\varsigma} := H_{\varsigma}(-1)$ with q = -1, by introducing a class of polynomials that we call *fused Specht polynomials* (Theorem 2.14).

¹The Hecke algebra $H_n(\pm 1)$ is isomorphic to the group algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ of the symmetric group, and $U_{\pm 1}(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C}))$ is understood as just the classical universal enveloping algebra $U(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C}))$. The quantum groups come up in the case where the deformation parameter is $q \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, \pm 1\}$. Nevertheless, because (motivated by CFT) we will speak of "fusion" in the present work, which also has a direct analogue in the *q*-deformed case, we shall adopt the terminology of "(fused) Hecke algebra" (or "(valenced) Hecke algebra") and the "(valenced) Temperley-Lieb algebra" when we discuss the representation theory of the case of q = -1 as well.

Conformal field theory has become a rich and important field of study in the mathematical physics community in the recent decades, both because of its relation with critical lattice models in statistical physics and random geometry (see [DFMS97, Smi06, Pel19, GKR23] and references therein), and for its intricate connections to algebraic geometry and supersymmetric gauge theories (see [AGT10, NS10, Tes11] and references therein). In certain CFTs, combinatorial methods and special functions play an important role (cf. [AFLT11, BF14, ILT15]), as will also be the case in the present work. Indeed, we shall find new expressions for conformal blocks in a CFT with central charge c = 1 in terms of special functions, building on the aforementioned (fused) Specht polynomials (cf. Theorem 3.24).

Conformal blocks provide fundamental building blocks of correlation functions of a CFT. In two dimensions, the conformal symmetry imposes infinitely many constraints to the system (encoded into representations of the Virasoro algebra) [BPZ84b, DFMS97] and thereby the structure of the correlation functions is believed to be completely determined by the twoand three-point functions together with the *fusion rules* (or "spectrum"), which describe the asymptotics of the correlation functions, and with the *central charge c*, a parameter encoding the "conformal anomaly." In this approach, often termed "conformal bootstrap," or BPZ's algebraic approach, it is in principle sufficient to understand the correlation functions of the *primary fields* and the underlying Virasoro algebra representation — the former correspond to highest-weight vectors in Virasoro highest-weight modules, and the latter then yields the algebraic structure of the rest of the theory. Moreover, in applications one in fact most frequently encounters precisely the correlation functions of primary fields. In this article, we shall focus on correlation functions of primary fields in a certain c = 1 CFT, comprising so-called "degenerate fields," relevant to random geometry applications.

Upon expanding the correlation functions in terms of a Frobenius type expansion (operator product expansion (OPE) determined by the fusion rules), choices of different intermediate Virasoro modules yield different correlation functions. Particular choices are expected to give distinguished bases of correlation functions (thus singled out by their OPEs), and all correlation functions then to be expanded in such bases. Certain distinguished bases of correlation functions have been related to geometric observables in scaling limits of critical lattice models: solving *crossing probabilities* (cf. [Car92, Smi01, FSKZ17, PW23]), or describing *boundary condition changing operators* (cf. [Car84, FSKZ17, PW19, FPW24]), also related to *Schramm-Loewner evolution curves*, SLE(κ) (cf. [BBK05, Dub06, KP16, Pel20]. In that context, the OPE structure also admits a probabilistic meaning in the corresponding model, and is crucial in deriving rigorous scaling limit results (see [Pel19] for a survey).

The correlation functions of primary fields are expected to be conformally covariant functions, and their behavior under conformal transformations is entirely characterized by their conformal weights. Interestingly enough, a special class of primary fields called *degenerate fields* often appear in applications to boundary effects in statistical physics models (as in the aforementioned references). Their correlation functions should furthermore satisfy certain linear homogeneous partial differential equations, *BPZ PDEs*, which emerge from the fact that Virasoro Verma modules corresponding to degenerate fields contain singular vectors, i.e., vectors which generate a nontrivial submodule [BPZ84a]. Feĭgin & Fuchs classified all such modules [FF84, IK11], yielding a two-parameter family of relevant conformal weights. It is conventional to parameterize them as $h_{r,t}(\theta)$ in terms of $r, t \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, and $\theta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$:

$$h_{r,t}(\theta) := \frac{(r^2 - 1)}{4} \theta + \frac{(t^2 - 1)}{4} \theta^{-1} + \frac{(1 - rt)}{2} \quad \text{and} \quad c(\theta) = 13 - 6(\theta + \theta^{-1})$$

(this is also called the "Kac table" [Kac80, Sch08]).

For SLE(κ) applications, one takes $\theta = \kappa/4$, in which case $c = \frac{(3\kappa-8)(6-\kappa)}{2\kappa}$ and $h_{1,2} = \frac{6-\kappa}{2\kappa}$, for example. Note that c = 1 if and only if $\kappa = 4$, and in this case, we have

$$h_{r,t} = \frac{(t-r)^2}{4} = h_{t,r} = h_{1,|t-r|+1}, \qquad r,t \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0},$$
(1.1)

so it then suffices to consider the collection (indexed by s = t - 1 for convenience)

$$\{h_{1,s+1} \mid s \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\} = \left\{\frac{s^2}{4} \mid s \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\right\} = \left\{0, \frac{1}{4}, 1, \frac{9}{4}, 4, \frac{25}{4}, 9, \frac{49}{4}, 16, \frac{81}{4}, \dots\right\}.$$
 (1.2)

In Sections 3-4, we construct a basis for a space of conformal blocks in a CFT with central charge c = 1 and conformal weights in the Kac table (1.2). We prove that the associated correlation functions are linearly independent (Proposition 3.17) and span a solution space of a special class of BPZ PDEs, also known as "Benoît & Saint-Aubin equations" [BSA88] (Theorem 3.24). Such conformal blocks are expected to give rise to a family of conformally invariant boundary conditions for the Gaussian free field (GFF)², which can also be verified in special cases [PW19, LW21]. We also plan to return to this in future work.

Interestingly (and surprisingly to us), the conformal block basis which we introduce in the present work (and which plays an important role in applications to statistical physics and random geometry) does *not* correspond to the so-called "comb basis," which is often used especially in the physics literature [DFMS97, KKP19]. (We provide a counterexample in Remark 3.5 via asymptotics of a certain basis element.) The comb basis should arise instead as a limit $c \nearrow 1$ of the conformal block basis defined in [KKP19] for irrational central charges, and a valenced/fused generalization thereof (analogous to but different as in [Pel20]). Alternatively, the comb basis can be constructed from our basis.

In [KLPR24], with A. Karrila we consider analogous functions for a CFT with central charge c = -2, describing the scaling limit of boundary-touching branches in a uniform spanning tree model. In particular, the explicit determinantal functions discussed in [KLPR24, Theorem B.1] are the c = -2 (and $\kappa = 2$) analogues of the conformal block basis functions considered in the present work (having c = 1 and $\kappa = 4$). A special case of these are the so-called "Fomin determinants" (see [Fom01] and [KKP20, Sect. 3.4]) which come up as partition functions for non-intersecting random walks (loop-erased walks).

Short description of our results. Throughout, we fix *valences* $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d)$, where $s_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$, and such that $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = n$. (These are called "integer compositions" of n in combinatorics literature.) The symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n acts naturally on $\{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ by permutation, and roughly, the composition ς represents tuples of indices that should be stable under this action, yielding variants of the symmetric group.

Let $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ be the symmetric group algebra. The "colored symmetric group" $\mathfrak{S}_{s_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{S}_{s_d}$ is a subgroup of \mathfrak{S}_n giving rise to the ς -antisymmetrizer idempotent p_{ς} defined in (2.5), obtained by antisymmetrizing groups of consecutive letters according to the valences ς . By the idempotent property $p_{\varsigma}^2 = p_{\varsigma}$, the following conjugated set is an associative algebra with unit p_{ς} , termed the *fused Hecke algebra* [Cd23] (with deformation parameter q = -1):

$$\mathsf{H}_{\varsigma} := \mathsf{p}_{\varsigma} \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n] \mathsf{p}_{\varsigma} = \{ \mathsf{p}_{\varsigma} \, a \, \mathsf{p}_{\varsigma} \mid a \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n] \}. \tag{1.3}$$

²The GFF also describes the scaling limit of the height function of the double-dimer model [Ken01], and certain correlation functions in the c = 1 CFT considered in the present article give formulas for connection probabilities in this model [KW11, PW19]. See also the recent [LR24, LL24] for the case of triple-dimers.

In Section 2, we investigate irreducible representations of H_{ς} in the space of polynomials. In fact, H_{ς} is a semisimple algebra and its simple modules³ can be expressed in terms of Young diagrams satisfying certain properties (see Theorem 2.11 and [Cd23, Thm. 6.5]).

Recall that irreducible representations of \mathfrak{S}_n in the space of polynomials can be described in terms of *Specht polynomials* [Spe35, Pee75]. They are labeled by *standard* Young tableaux and are essentially equal to a product of Vandermonde polynomials. One of our main contributions of Section 2 is to introduce a class of polynomials labeled by *semi-standard* Young tableaux that we call *fused Specht polynomials*, which we define as certain limits of linear combinations of Specht polynomials (up to a normalization factor) motivated by fusion in CFT for applications in both CFT and in statistical physics — see Definition 2.12. We also present a new explicit formula for the fused Specht polynomials in Proposition 2.22.

The main result of Section 2 is Theorem 2.14, which characterizes the irreducible representations of H_{ς} in terms of the fused Specht polynomials. Our proof of Theorem 2.14 is valid only for Young diagrams with two columns (sufficient for our applications) — however, we believe that the claim extends to Young diagrams of any shape (Conjecture 2.15).

Sections 3 and 4 constitute the second part of this article. The central object of interest is a certain space S_{ς} of functions. Any element in S_{ς} satisfies, in particular, a system of *d* BPZ type (in this case, Benoît & Saint-Aubin, BSA) partial differential equations with c = 1, and a certain covariance property under Möbius transformations. In other words, functions in the space S_{ς} can be regarded as correlation functions in a c = 1 CFT with degenerate fields of weights in the Kac table (1.1, 1.2) $(h_{1,s_1+1}, \ldots, h_{1,s_d+1})$, labeled by the valences ς .

The simplest nontrivial case occurs when $\varsigma = (1, ..., 1)$. In this case, d = 2N is even and all the PDEs are of second order, and a certain important basis for $S_{(1,...,1)}$ called *conformal block basis* was constructed in [PW19]. We revisit this result in Proposition 3.2 by rewriting the basis elements in terms of Specht polynomials associated with standard Young tableaux with two columns. We show in Corollary 3.10 that $S_{(1,...,1)}$ is isomorphic to a standard module (without defects) of the Temperley-Lieb algebra⁴ $\mathsf{TL}_{2N} = \mathsf{TL}_{2N}(\nu) = \mathsf{TL}_{2N}(2)$.

The main contribution of Section 3 is to generalize this to the case of arbitrary ς : we construct a basis of S_{ς} that we also call "conformal block basis." We show that the basis elements can be written in terms of fused Specht polynomials associated with semi-standard Young tableaux with two columns (Proposition 3.17). We then show (Proposition 3.20) that S_{ς} is isomorphic to a standard module of the valenced Temperley-Lieb algebra [FP18b, FP18a]. We also verify the Möbius covariance property of the conformal block basis elements (Proposition 3.21), state the BPZ equations (Theorem 3.24) and outline its proof⁵.

In Section 3, we also show that special cases of our conformal block basis functions indeed equal the ones used in applications to the Gaussian free field (GFF). The special case where $\varsigma = (1, ..., 1)$ is the content of [PW19, Sect. 5-6], where crossing probability formulas for the GFF with alternating boundary data were proven, and the case of more general boundary data was pointed out (and proven later in [LW21, Thm. 4.1]). The special case where $\varsigma = (2, ..., 2)$ was studied by Liu & Wu [LW21], who proved crossing probability formulas for the GFF with generalized alternating boundary data. In particular, they introduced three functions in [LW21, Eq. (5.15, 5.16, 5.17)]. We check in Remark 3.19 that these indeed agree with the three elements of the conformal block basis of $S_{(2,2,2,2)}$.

³Recall that a *simple module* is a nonzero vector space V carrying an irreducible representation, i.e., such that V does not have any nontrivial submodules (subspaces other than $\{0\}$ and V carrying a subrepresentation).

⁴Here, the loop "fugacity" parameter $\nu := -q - q^{-1} \in \mathbb{C}$ equals 2 for q = -1.

⁵However, the proof requires significantly more efforts and is the sole objective of Section 4.

In Section 4, we turn to the BPZ equations. Systematic verification of these equations does not seem amenable via a direct computation⁶. Therefore, we proceed by a recursive approach bootstrapping from the already known case of 2nd order PDEs [PW19, Lem. 6.4] via asymptotics and a combination of tools from algebra and complex geometry. We follow Dubédat's approach [Dub15b, Dub15a] (which unfortunately only applies with irrational central charges), utilizing the underlying Virasoro algebra structure. The proof is rather non-trivial, and we shall explain the strategy in more detail in the beginning of Section 4. The key new input needed is representation-theoretic: we extend [Dub15a, Lem. 1] to the case of c = 1, where the Virasoro structure is slightly more intricate (see Lemma 4.1).

Acknowledgments.

We thank Alex Karrila for comments on the first version of this manuscript.

- A.L. is supported by the Academy of Finland grant number 340461 "Conformal invariance in planar random geometry."
- J.R. is supported by the Academy of Finland Centre of Excellence Programme grant number 346315 "Finnish centre of excellence in Randomness and STructures" (FiRST).
- This material is part of a project that has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (101042460): ERC Starting grant "Interplay of structures in conformal and universal random geometry" (ISCoURaGe) and from the Academy of Finland grant number 340461 "Conformal invariance in planar random geometry". E.P. is also supported by the Academy of Finland Centre of Excellence Programme grant number 346315 "Finnish centre of excellence in Randomness and STructures" (FiRST) and by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) under Germany's Excellence Strategy EXC-2047/1-390685813, as well as the DFG collaborative research centre "The mathematics of emerging effects" CRC-1060/211504053.

2. Fused Specht polynomials and the fused Hecke algebra with parameter q=-1

Throughout, we let $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ be an integer and $\lambda \vdash n$ a partition of n, that is, $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_l)$ such that $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_l \geq 0$ and $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_l = n$. The length of the partition λ is denoted by $|\lambda| = n$. Let $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ be the symmetric group algebra, generated by the transpositions $\tau_i = (i, i+1) \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\} =: [1, n-1]$ with relations

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_i^2 &= 1, & \text{for } i \in [\![1, n-1]\!], \\ \tau_i \tau_{i+1} \tau_i &= \tau_{i+1} \tau_i \tau_{i+1}, & \text{for } i \in [\![1, n-2]\!], \\ \tau_i \tau_j &= \tau_j \tau_j, & \text{for } |j-i| > 1. \end{aligned}$$

This section is devoted to investigating the irreducible representations of $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ and its special subalgebra, the fused Hecke algebra (1.3), in the space of polynomials. In the key Theorem 2.14, we characterize the irreducible representations in terms of the fused Specht polynomials, which we introduce as limiting expressions from the classical Specht polynomials (Definition 2.12). One of the key ingredients to prove Theorem 2.14 is an explicit combinatorial formula for the fused Specht polynomials, Proposition 2.22, which is of independent interest. Theorem 2.14, in turn, shall be used in CFT applications later.

⁶An alternative approach could be provided by generalizing the elementary computation performed in [KKP20, Sect. 5.2], but this seems very complicated in general.

2.1. Specht polynomials and irreducible modules for the symmetric group. We begin by fixing terminology. A *Young diagram* of shape λ is a finite collection of boxes arranged in l left-justified rows with row lengths being, from top to bottom, $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_l$. A *numbering* of a Young diagram is obtained by placing the numbers $1, \ldots, n$ in the n boxes of the Young diagram. A *standard Young tableau* is a numbering which is strictly increasing across each row and down each column. The sets of numberings and of standard Young tableaux of shape λ will be denoted NB^{λ} and SYT^{λ}, respectively. Observe that SYT^{λ} \subset NB^{λ}.

The group \mathfrak{S}_n acts on NB^{λ} by letter permutations; the action of $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ on a numbering $N \in NB^{\lambda}$ is denoted $\sigma.N$. For $N \in NB^{\lambda}$, let $\mathfrak{R}^{\lambda}(N)$ (resp. $\mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N)$) be the subgroup of \mathfrak{S}_n which preserves the set of entries of each of its rows (resp. columns). A *tabloid* $\{N\}$ is an equivalence class of numberings defined by $\{N'\} = \{N\}$ if and only if $N' = \sigma.N$ for some $\sigma \in \mathfrak{R}^{\lambda}(N)$. The \mathbb{C} -vector space spanned by tabloids of shape λ ,

$$M^{\lambda} := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \{ N \} \mid N \in \operatorname{NB}^{\lambda} \},\$$

carries a natural \mathfrak{S}_n -action denoted by σ .{N} := { σ .N}. *Simple modules* of \mathfrak{S}_n (i.e., nontrivial modules for which the representation, is irreducible) are subspaces of M^λ , and can be realized in various ways. In what follows, we recall two different but equivalent (well known) realizations — in terms of polytabloids (Section 2.1.1) and polynomials (Section 2.1.2).

2.1.1. Polytabloid basis. For each numbering $N \in NB^{\lambda}$, the column antisymmetrizer

$$\epsilon_N := \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{C}^\lambda(N)} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \, \sigma$$

defines the associated *polytabloid* $v_N := \epsilon_N \{N\} \in M^{\lambda}$. Note that $\{N\} = \{N'\}$ does not necessarily imply that v_N and $v_{N'}$ would be equal, since the actions of row and column permutations (the subgroups $\mathfrak{R}^{\lambda}(N)$ and $\mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N)$) do not commute in general.

Lemma 2.1. [Spe35] A complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple modules of the algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ is given by $\{V^{\lambda} \mid \lambda \vdash n\}$, where $V^{\lambda} \subset M^{\lambda}$ is the \mathbb{C} -vector space spanned by the polytabloids,

$$V^{\lambda} := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ v_N \mid N \in \mathsf{NB}^{\lambda} \} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ v_T \mid T \in \mathsf{SYT}^{\lambda} \},$$

where the polytabloid basis $\{v_T \mid T \in SYT^{\lambda}\}$ is a linearly independent collection.

Note that $\rho_{\lambda}(\sigma)(v_N) := \sigma v_N = v_{\sigma N}$, for $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ and $N \in NB^{\lambda}$, which implies that $(V^{\lambda}, \rho_{\lambda})$ has the structure of a (left) \mathfrak{S}_n -module. Its linear extension then gives a representation $\rho_{\lambda} : \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n] \to \operatorname{End}(V^{\lambda})$. The pair $(V^{\lambda}, \rho_{\lambda})$ is called a *Specht module* [Spe35]. See [Ful12, Chap. 7] for a detailed account on Specht modules and the proof of Lemma 2.1.

2.1.2. *Polynomial basis*. Throughout, let $\{x_i \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}\}$ be a collection of formal variables. We write $x_{i_1,...,i_r} := (x_{i_1},...,x_{i_r})$. The *Vandermonde determinant* is the antisymmetric function

$$\Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{i_1,\dots,i_r}) := \prod_{1 \le j < k \le r} (x_{i_j} - x_{i_k})$$
(2.1)

(with the convention that $\Delta(x) = \Delta(x_{i_1}) \equiv 1$ for r = 1).

Definition 2.2. The *Specht polynomial* associated with $N \in NB^{\lambda}$ is the polynomial

$$\mathcal{P}_N = \mathcal{P}_N(x_1, \dots, x_n) := \prod_c \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{N_{.,c}}),$$
(2.2)

where *c* runs through the columns of *N* and $N_{.,c}$ is the ordered set of entries in the *c*-th column of *N* listed from bottom to top. For instance, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{\boxed{\frac{1}{3}\frac{2}{4}}} = \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{3,1})\Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{4,2}) = (x_3 - x_1)(x_4 - x_2)$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{\boxed{\frac{1}{6}\frac{5}{3}}} = \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{2,6,1})\Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{3,5})\Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_4) = (x_2 - x_6)(x_2 - x_1)(x_6 - x_1)(x_3 - x_5).$$

The symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n acts on the polynomial algebra $\mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ by permutation of the variables. In fact, Peel showed in [Pee75, Thm. 1.1] that the space

$$P^{\lambda} := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{P}_N \mid N \in \operatorname{NB}^{\lambda} \} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{P}_T \mid T \in \operatorname{SYT}^{\lambda} \}$$
(2.3)

is a simple \mathfrak{S}_n -module with basis { $\mathcal{P}_T \mid T \in SYT^{\lambda}$ } consisting of Specht polynomials.

Lemma 2.3. The following map is an isomorphism of simple $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ -modules:

$$\phi \colon V^{\lambda} \to P^{\lambda}$$
$$v_N \mapsto \phi(v_N) := \mathcal{P}_N.$$

Proof summary. Consider first the homomorphism $\phi \colon M^{\lambda} \to \mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ of \mathfrak{S}_n -modules defined by the natural extension of $\phi(\{N\}) := m_N$ in terms of the monomials

$$m_N = m_N(x_1, \dots, x_n) := \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{r^N(i)-1},$$

where $r^{N}(i)$ denotes the row number of the entry "*i*" in *N*, counting row numbers from top to bottom. For instance, we have

$$m_{\frac{1}{3}} = x_1^0 x_2^0 x_3^1 x_4^1 = x_3 x_4$$

By [HLV20, Thm. 9], the Specht polynomial (2.2) equals the image of the polytabloid v_N :

$$\mathcal{P}_N = \phi(v_N) := \epsilon_N . m_N = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N)} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \prod_{i=1}^n x_{\sigma(i)}^{r^N(i)-1}, \qquad N \in \mathrm{NB}^{\lambda}.$$
(2.4)

For instance, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{\boxed{\frac{1}{3}\frac{2}{4}}} = (x_3 - x_1)(x_4 - x_2) = x_3x_4 - x_1x_4 - x_3x_2 + x_1x_2 = \epsilon_{\boxed{\frac{1}{3}\frac{2}{4}}} m_{\boxed{\frac{1}{3}\frac{2}{4}}}.$$

Hence, the restriction of ϕ to V^{λ} (cf. Lemma 2.1) yields the sought isomorphism.

For any $N \in NB^{\lambda}$, Equation (2.2) expresses the Specht polynomial \mathcal{P}_N as a factorized polynomial, whereas Equation (2.4) expresses it as a linear combination of monomials.

2.2. Irreducible modules for the fused Hecke algebra. Fix an integer composition $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ such that $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = n$ (valences). The "colored symmetric group" $\mathfrak{S}_{s_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{S}_{s_d}$ is a subgroup of \mathfrak{S}_n giving rise to the ς -antisymmetrizer idempotent

$$\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} := \frac{1}{s_1! \cdots s_d!} \prod_{k=1}^d \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_k}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{s_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{S}_{s_d}] \subset \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n],$$
(2.5)

which is used to define the *fused Hecke algebra* [Cd23] (with deformation parameter q = -1),

$$\mathsf{H}_{\varsigma} = \mathsf{H}_{\varsigma}(-1) := \mathrm{p}_{\varsigma} \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n] \mathrm{p}_{\varsigma} = \{ \mathrm{p}_{\varsigma} \, a \, \mathrm{p}_{\varsigma} \mid a \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n] \}.$$

Note that the algebra H_{ς} has unit p_{ς} , so inparticular, it is not a unital subalgebra of $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$.

2.2.1. *Fused Hecke algebras for* $q = \pm 1$. The fused Hecke algebra at q = 1, also-called the algebra of *fused permutations* in [Cd23], is defined as $H_{\varsigma}(1) := s_{\varsigma} \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n] s_{\varsigma}$ with unit s_{ς} , where

$$\mathbf{s}_{\varsigma} := \frac{1}{s_1! \cdots s_d!} \prod_{k=1}^d \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_k}} \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{s_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{S}_{s_d}] \subset \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$$
(2.6)

is the ς -symmetrizer idempotent. The two fused Hecke algebras $H_{\varsigma} = H_{\varsigma}(-1)$ for q = -1 and $H_{\varsigma}(1)$ for q = 1 are related in the following manner — in particular, they are isomorphic. There exists an involutive automorphism ω of $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ defined via

$$\omega \colon \sigma \mapsto \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \, \sigma, \qquad \sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n, \tag{2.7}$$

extending linearly to $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$. Since $\omega(\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}) = \mathbf{s}_{\varsigma}$, we see that $\mathsf{H}_{\varsigma} \cong \mathbf{s}_{\varsigma}\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]\mathbf{s}_{\varsigma} = \mathsf{H}(1)$, where the isomorphism and its inverse are given by

$$\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} \, a \, \mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} \mapsto \mathbf{s}_{\varsigma} \, \omega(a) \, \mathbf{s}_{\varsigma}, \qquad \mathbf{s}_{\varsigma} \, a \, \mathbf{s}_{\varsigma} \mapsto \mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} \, \omega(a) \, \mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}, \qquad a \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n].$$

Remark 2.4. Let $\overline{\lambda}$ denote the transpose of the partition λ , whose columns are given by the rows of λ , and let $(V^{\lambda}, \rho_{\lambda})$ be a Specht module. Then, $(V^{\lambda}, \rho_{\lambda} \circ \omega)$ yields a $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ -module isomorphic to $V^{\overline{\lambda}}$, see [Ful12, Chap. 7]. In particular, this implies that, as vector spaces,

$$p_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) \cong s_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}). \tag{2.8}$$

Let us emphasize that, under this isomorphism the basis of polytabloids in V^{λ} is *not* mapped to the basis of polytabloids in $V^{\overline{\lambda}}$, but instead, to the basis of so-called "dual polytabloids".

Remark 2.5. The space of *dual tabloids* is defined as equivalence classes of numberings, $\check{M}^{\lambda} := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{[N] \mid N \in \operatorname{NB}^{\lambda}\}$, modulo $[N'] = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)[N]$ if and only if $N' = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)\sigma.N$ for some $\sigma \in \mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N)$. The symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n acts on \check{M}^{λ} by $\sigma.[N] = [\sigma.N]$. Alternatively to Lemma 2.1, simple modules of \mathfrak{S}_n can be characterized as subspaces of \check{M}^{λ} and are constructed as follows. For each numbering $N \in \operatorname{NB}^{\lambda}$, the *row symmetrizer*

$$\check{\epsilon}_N := \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{R}^\lambda(N)} \sigma$$

defines the associated *dual polytabloid* $\check{v}_N := \check{\epsilon}_N \cdot [N]$. Then, we have

$$V^{\lambda} \simeq \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \check{v}_N \mid N \in \mathbb{NB}^{\lambda} \}$$

The following lemma is proven, e.g., in [Cd23, App. A.1].

Lemma 2.6. Let A be a finite-dimensional semisimple associative algebra and $p \in A$ an idempotent element (i.e., $p^2 = p$). Then, the algebra pAp with unit p is finite-dimensional and semisimple. Moreover, if $\{R^{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in I\}$ is a complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple A-modules, then

$$\{p(R^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \in I, \ p(R^{\lambda}) \neq \{0\}\}$$

is a complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple pAp-modules.

Lemma 2.6 implies in particular that both the subspaces

$$\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}.v_T \mid T \in \operatorname{SYT}^{\lambda}\},\tag{2.9}$$

$$p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda}) := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ p_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}_T \mid T \in \operatorname{SYT}^{\lambda} \}$$
(2.10)

are either {0} or irreducible modules for the algebra H_{ς} . The remainder of this subsection is devoted to the study of the subspaces $p_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda})$. (We will return to $p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})$ in Section 2.3).

2.2.2. *Row-strict Young tableaux*. Fix valences $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d)$. For $\lambda \vdash n$, a (Young) *filling* assigns a positive integer to each box of λ . Let $\operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ be the set of fillings of Young diagrams of shape $\lambda \vdash n$ where each number k appears s_k times, for $k \in [\![1,d]\!]$. We say that ς is the *content*, or weight, of a filling in $\operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$. In particular, we have $\operatorname{NB}^{\lambda} = \operatorname{Fill}_{(1^n)}^{\lambda} = \operatorname{Fill}_{(1,\dots,1)}^{\lambda}$.

A *row-strict* Young tableau is a filling whose entries are weakly increasing down each column and strictly increasing along each row. Similarly, a *column-strict* Young tableau is a filling whose numbers are weakly increasing along each row and strictly increasing down each column. Let $\text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ and $\text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ be the set of row-strict and column-strict Young tableaux of shape λ and content ς , respectively. The column-strict ones are often called *semistandard*. Observe that $|\text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}| = |\text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\overline{\lambda}}|$, where $\overline{\lambda}$ is the transpose of the partition λ .

There is a condition that λ and ς need to satisfy in order for $|\text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}|$ to be non-zero. Namely, let ς^{ord} be the composition ς rearranged in decreasing order, i.e., a *partition*. We say that two partitions λ and μ satisfy the *dominance ordering relation* $\lambda \ge \mu$ if and only if

 $\lambda_1 + \dots + \lambda_i \ge \mu_1 + \dots + \mu_i, \quad \text{for all } i,$

where we possibly extend the sequences by zeros.

Lemma 2.7. We have
$$|\text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}| \neq 0 \iff \lambda \geq \varsigma^{\text{ord}}$$
 and similarly, $|\text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}| \neq 0 \iff \overline{\lambda} \geq \varsigma^{\text{ord}}$.

Proof. The first statement follows immediately from [Cd23, Lem. 6.3] and the second statement follows immediately from the first one, since $|\text{RSYT}_{S}^{\lambda}| = |\text{CSYT}_{S}^{\bar{\lambda}}|$.

2.2.3. The subspaces $p_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda})$. We now return to the characterization of $p_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda})$.

Definition 2.8. Let $F \in \text{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ be a filling of shape λ with content ς . We associate to F a numbering $\tilde{F} \in \text{NB}^{\lambda}$ injectively as follows. First, we relabel each entry "k" of F by

$$q_k := 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} s_j, \qquad k \in [\![1,d]\!].$$

This gives a new filling F'. Second, we construct a word w by reading the entries of F' from top to bottom, column by column from left to right; we call this *column reading*. Third, we construct a new numbering \tilde{F} by relabeling the entry "l" of F' by l + u, where u is the number of times the letter l has previously appeared in w. This defines $\tilde{F} \in NB^{\lambda}$.

For example, with $\lambda = (3, 3, 1)$ and $\varsigma = (2, 1, 3, 1)$, for $F \in \text{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ and $T \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$, we have

$$F = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 3 & 4 \\ 3 & 3 & 1 \\ 2 \end{bmatrix} \implies F' = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 4 & 7 \\ 4 & 4 & 1 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix} \implies \tilde{F} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 5 & 7 \\ 4 & 6 & 2 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix},$$

and
$$T = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 1 & 3 & 4 \\ 3 \end{bmatrix} \implies T' = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 3 & 4 \\ 1 & 4 & 7 \\ 4 \end{bmatrix} \implies \tilde{T} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 3 & 6 \\ 2 & 5 & 7 \\ 4 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Lemma 2.9. If $T \in \text{RSYT}_{\mathcal{S}}^{\lambda}$, then $\tilde{T} \in \text{SYT}^{\lambda}$.

Proof. It is a simple combinatorial exercise to verify from Definition 2.8 that T being rowstrict implies that \tilde{T} is strictly increasing across each row and down each column. For $T \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$, we define the following vector in V^{λ} :

$$w_T := \mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} . v_{\tilde{T}} \in V^{\lambda}. \tag{2.11}$$

It is, a priori, a linear combination containing polytabloids of tableaux which are not necessarily standard. Nevertheless, w_T can always be expressed as a linear combination of the basis elements { $v_S | S \in SYT^{\lambda}$ } (Lemma 2.1); see also Equation (2.12). For example,



Proposition 2.10. The set $\{w_T \mid T \in RSYT_s^{\lambda}\}$ defined by Equation (2.11) is a basis for $p_s(V^{\lambda})$.

Proof. Denote by \leq the total order on the set NB^{λ} of tableaux given by the lexicographic order on the words obtained by column reading. Note that for each $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{S}_{s_d}$ and $T \in \mathrm{RSYT}^{\lambda}_{\varsigma}$, we have $\sigma.\tilde{T} \succeq \tilde{T}$ (for the tableau as in Lemma 2.9), with strict inequality when σ is not the identity. Moreover, it follows from Definition 2.8 that either $\sigma.\tilde{T} \in \mathrm{SYT}^{\lambda}$, or it becomes standard by permuting numbers within its columns only, in which case there exists $\tau \in (\mathfrak{S}_{s_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{S}_{s_d}) \cap \mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(\sigma.\tilde{T})$ such that $v_{\sigma.\tilde{T}} = \mathrm{sgn}(\tau)v_{\tau\sigma.\tilde{T}}$, where $\tau\sigma.\tilde{T} \in \mathrm{SYT}^{\lambda}$ is standard. Hence, we see from the definitions (2.11) and (2.5) that

$$w_T = c_{\tilde{T}} v_{\tilde{T}} + \sum_{\substack{S \in \text{SYT}^{\lambda} \\ S \succ \tilde{T}}} c_S v_S, \qquad c_{\tilde{T}}, c_S \in \mathbb{R}, \quad c_{\tilde{T}} \neq 0,$$
(2.12)

and in particular, $w_T \neq 0$ since $\{v_S \mid S \in SYT^{\lambda}\}$ is linearly independent (Lemma 2.1). Moreover, since each element in $\{w_T \mid T \in RSYT_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ is thus obtained by an upper-triangular transformation from $\{v_S \mid S \in SYT^{\lambda}\}$, the former collection is also linearly independent.

Lastly, using the isomorphism (2.8) and the fact (e.g., from [Cd23, Thm. 6.5]) that $\dim(s_{\varsigma}(V^{\bar{\lambda}})) = |\text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\bar{\lambda}}|$, we have $\dim p_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) = \dim s_{\varsigma}(V^{\bar{\lambda}}) = |\text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\bar{\lambda}}| = |\text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}|$. \Box

The next result identifies the complete set of irreducible representations of H_{ς} . It essentially follows from the proof of [Cd23, Thm. 6.5]⁷.

Theorem 2.11. *The collection* $\{p_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \in I_{\varsigma}\}$ *, where* $I_{\varsigma} := \{\lambda \vdash n \mid \overline{\lambda} \geq \varsigma^{\text{ord}}\}$ *, is a complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple* H_{ς} *-modules.*

Proof. On the one hand, combining Lemmas 2.1 & 2.6, we see that a complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple H_{ς} -modules is given by $\mathcal{M} := \{\mathsf{p}_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \vdash n, \mathsf{p}_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) \neq \{0\}\}$. On the other hand, we have $\mathsf{p}_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{w_T \mid T \in \operatorname{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ by Proposition 2.10, and Lemma 2.7 shows that $|\operatorname{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}| \neq 0$ if and only if $\lambda \in I_{\varsigma}$. Hence, $\mathcal{M} = \{\mathsf{p}_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \in I_{\varsigma}\}$. \Box

The sum-of-squares formula now yields the dimension of the semisimple⁸ algebra H_s:

$$\dim(\mathsf{H}_{\varsigma}) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} |\mathrm{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}|^2 = \sum_{\lambda \in I_{\varsigma}} |\mathrm{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}|^2.$$
(2.13)

⁷The result [Cd23, Thm. 6.5] states in particular that a complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple modules of the algebra $H_{\varsigma}(1) := s_{\varsigma} \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n] s_{\varsigma}$ of fused permutations is given by $s_{\varsigma}(V^{\lambda})$ for $\lambda \ge \varsigma^{\text{ord}}$.

⁸The fused Hecke algebra H_{ς} is semisimple by Lemma 2.6.

12

2.3. Fused Specht polynomials. Next, we will show how the H_s-modules $p_s(P^{\lambda})$ in (2.10) can be characterized in terms of fused Specht polynomials (Definition 2.12 & Theorem 2.14). Observe that, by definition, any element of $p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})$ is a totally antisymmetric polynomial with respect to its variables $x_{q_k}, \ldots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}$ for all $k \in [\![1,d]\!]$. Hence, any element of $p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})$ is divisible by a product of Vandermonde determinants. This observation leads us to the definition of the fused Specht polynomials. To facilitate notation, we denote

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\varsigma} := \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid x_{q_k} = x_{q_k+1} = \dots = x_{q_{k+1}-1} \text{ for all } k \in \llbracket 1, d \rrbracket \right\} \ \subset \ \mathbb{C}^n,$$

and for a function $f: U \to \mathbb{C}$ defined on a domain $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ which can be continuously extended to a subset of \mathfrak{D}_{ς} , we shall write

$$[f]_{\text{eval}} \colon \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C} \tag{2.14}$$

for the function obtained from $f(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ by the evaluations of variables (projection) $x_{q_k} = x_{q_k+1} = \cdots = x_{q_{k+1}-1}$ for all $k \in [1, d]$. We abuse notation and denote the variables of both f and $[f]_{eval}$ by $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ and $(x_1, \ldots, x_d) \in \mathbb{C}^d$, respectively. We define

$$\psi \colon \mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}.\mathbb{C}[x_1, \dots, x_n] \to \mathbb{C}[x_1, \dots, x_d]$$
$$\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}.f \mapsto \left[\frac{\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}.f}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)} \right]_{\text{eval}}.$$
(2.15)

Definition 2.12. For each $F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{c}^{\lambda}$, we define the *fused Specht polynomial* $\mathcal{F}_{F} \colon \mathbb{C}^{d} \to \mathbb{C}$ as

$$\mathcal{F}_F := \left[\frac{\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} \cdot \mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}}}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)} \right]_{\text{eval}} = \psi(\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} \cdot \mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}}), \tag{2.16}$$

where $\tilde{F} \in NB^{\lambda}$ is obtained from *F* as in Definition 2.8.

The simplest class of fused Specht polynomials arises when the tableau has one column:

Proposition 2.13. Fix $\lambda = (1^n)$ and valences $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ such that $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = n$. Let $T \in \text{RSYT}^{(1^n)}_{\varsigma}$. Then, we have

$$\mathcal{F}_T = \mathcal{F}_T(x_1, \dots, x_d) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le d} (x_j - x_i)^{s_i s_j}.$$
(2.17)

Proof. By Definition 2.12 and using the fact that the Specht polynomial for a standard Young tableau with one column is the Vandermonde determinant, we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{T} = \left[\frac{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (x_{j} - x_{i})}{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_{k} \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_{j} - x_{i})} \right]_{\text{eval}} = \left[\prod_{1 \le i < j \le d} \prod_{l=0}^{s_{j}-1} \prod_{m=0}^{s_{i}-1} (x_{q_{j}+l} - x_{q_{i}+m}) \right]_{\text{eval}}.$$

The evaluation of this leads to (2.17).

We now state the main theorem of this section, which gives an isomorphism of the two H_{ς} -modules $p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda}) := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ p_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}_{S} \mid S \in \operatorname{SYT}^{\lambda} \}$ in (2.10) and $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{F}_{F} \mid F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda} \}$ defined via (2.16). The latter space carries the H_c-action induced by the linear map ψ .

Theorem 2.14. Let λ be a Young diagram with two columns. The map ψ in (2.15) defines a linear isomorphism from $p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})$ to $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathcal{F}_F \mid F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in \operatorname{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}.$

Moreover, either collection $\{p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \in I_{\varsigma}\}$ *and* $\{span_{\mathbb{C}} \{\mathcal{F}_{T} \mid T \in RSYT_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\} \mid \lambda \in I_{\varsigma}\}$, where $I_{\varsigma} := \{\lambda \vdash n \mid \bar{\lambda} \ge \varsigma^{\text{ord}}\}$, is a complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple H_{ς} -modules.

Proof. The key will be to prove that the set { $\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ } is linearly independent, when λ has exactly two columns (Proposition 2.30). Given this, we can finish the proof as follows.

On the one hand, because the map ψ is a surjection onto $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}{\{\mathcal{F}_F \mid F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}}$ from the linear span of $p_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}}$, where $\tilde{F} \in \operatorname{NB}^{\lambda}$ is obtained from $F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ as in Definition 2.8, and the space $p_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})$ defined by (2.3, 2.10) is either {0} or an irreducible H_{ς} -module (by Lemma 2.6), we obtain from the sum-of-squares formula (SOS) (2.13) that

$$\sum_{\lambda \vdash n} (\dim(\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{F}_F \mid F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda} \}))^2 \leq \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} (\dim(\operatorname{p}_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})))^2 = \dim(\mathsf{H}_{\varsigma})$$

On the other hand, since the linearly independent collection $\{\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ spans a subset of $\text{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathcal{F}_F \mid F \in \text{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ of dimension $|\text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}|$, the SOS (2.13) also gives

$$\dim(\mathsf{H}_{\varsigma}) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} |\mathrm{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}|^{2} \leq \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} (\dim(\mathrm{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathcal{F}_{F} \mid F \in \mathrm{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}))^{2}.$$

Combining these facts together, we conclude that

$$\dim(\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})) = \dim(\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathcal{F}_F \mid F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}) = |\operatorname{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}|,$$

so in particular, we have $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{F}_F \mid F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda} \} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in \operatorname{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda} \}$ and ψ defines a linear isomorphism from $\operatorname{p}_{\varsigma}(P^{\lambda})$ onto this space, as claimed.

Moreover, combining Lemmas 2.1, 2.3 & 2.6, we see that a complete set of pairwise nonisomorphic simple H_s-modules is given by $\mathcal{N} := \{p_s(P^\lambda) \mid \lambda \vdash n, p_s(P^\lambda) \neq \{0\}\}$. Since $\dim p_s(P^\lambda) = |RSYT_s^\lambda| \neq 0$ if and only if $\lambda \in I_s$ by Lemma 2.7, we conclude that either asserted collection is a complete set of pairwise non-isomorphic simple H_s-modules. \Box

It thus remains to prove that the set $\{\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in RSYT_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ is linearly independent (Proposition 2.30). One of the key ingredients for the proof will be to find a combinatorial formula for the fused Specht polynomials (Proposition 2.22). Unfortunately, the arguments leading to the linear independence of $\{\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in RSYT_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ and thus to Theorem 2.14 are valid only for Young diagrams with two columns. However the combinatorial formula will hold for any shape. Thus, we believe that Theorem 2.14 also holds more generally:

Conjecture 2.15. Theorem 2.14 holds for Young diagrams of any shape.

2.3.1. Combinatorial formula for the fused Specht polynomials. Consider the group

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda} \coloneqq \mathfrak{S}_{ar{\lambda_1}} imes \mathfrak{S}_{ar{\lambda_2}} imes \cdots imes \mathfrak{S}_{ar{\lambda_l}} \ \subset \ \mathfrak{S}_n$$

where $\bar{\lambda} = (\bar{\lambda}_1, \dots, \bar{\lambda}_l)$ (in particular, $\sum_i \bar{\lambda}_i = n$). Note that \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} acts on Fill^{λ}_s by permuting entries of a filling such that each factor $\mathfrak{S}_{\bar{\lambda}_i}$ permutes entries in the *i*th column.

Example 2.16. For instance, consider

$$T = \begin{array}{|c|c|c|} 1 & 3 \\ \hline 1 & 3 \\ \hline 2 & 2 \end{array}$$

In this case, we have $\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda} = \mathfrak{S}_3 \times \mathfrak{S}_3$. For instance, the permutation $\sigma = (13) \times \text{Id} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}$ exchanges the two entries lying in the first row, first column and third row, first column:

$$\sigma.T = \begin{array}{c|c} 2 & 3 \\ \hline 1 & 3 \\ \hline 1 & 2 \end{array}$$

Similarly, Id \times (12) leaves T unchanged because it permutes two identical entries "3".

We denote by $\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F$ the orbit of $F \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ under the action of \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} . We also denote by $\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F) = \{\sigma \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda} \mid \sigma.F = F\} \subset \mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}$ the stabilizer of F in \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} .

Remark 2.17. For a numbering $N \in NB^{\lambda}$, the orbit $\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.N$ corresponds to $\mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N).N$, where $\mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N)$ is the column-stabilizer subgroup defined in Section 2.1.

Before proceeding, we fix some notation to be used throughout the rest of this section.

Notation 2.18. Let $W_F \subset \mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F$ be the subset of fillings in the orbit of F which have at least two boxes containing the same entry in the same row. For $U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F) \setminus W_F$, let $\sigma_{F;U}$ be the shortest permutation in \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} such that $\sigma_{F;U}.F = U$. We denote by $(r_i^U(k))_{i=1}^{s_k}$ the sequence of row numbers of boxes of U containing the entry "k", ordered by column-reading U.

Let $(r_i^{U,\text{ord}}(k))_{i=1}^{s_k}$ be the ordering of $(r_i^U(k))_{i=1}^{s_k}$ in decreasing order, and let $\tau_{U;k}$ be permutations such that $(r_{\tau_{U;k}(i)}^U(k))_{i=1}^{s_k} = (r_i^{U,\text{ord}}(k))_{i=1}^{s_k}$. Finally, let $\lambda^U(k)$ be the partition

$$\lambda^{U}(k) := \left(r_{i}^{U, \text{ord}}(k) - s_{k} + i - 1 \right)_{i=1}^{s_{k}}.$$
(2.18)

Remark 2.19. Let us mention that if $s_k = 1$ for some k, that is, the entry "k" appears exactly once in the filling, then $\lambda^F(k)$ is simply the row number where k lies minus 1. Also, if the entry "k" appears in the rows $1, 2, \ldots, s_k$ exactly once, then $\lambda^F(k) = \emptyset$.

As a matter of convenience for the reader, we record two examples below. We focus on Young diagrams with two columns only, since only diagrams of this shape are considered in the subsequent sections (and in Theorem 2.14).

Example 2.20. Let $\lambda = (2, 2)$, so that $\overline{\lambda} = (2, 2)$ and $\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda} = \mathfrak{S}_2 \times \mathfrak{S}_2$. Consider

$$F = \boxed{\begin{array}{c|c}1 & 2\\2 & 3\end{array}} \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$$

with $\varsigma = (s_1, s_2, s_3) = (1, 2, 1)$. The orbit \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} . *F* reads

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F = \left\{ \begin{array}{c|c} 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 3 \end{array}, \begin{array}{c|c} 2 & 2 \\ 1 & 3 \end{array}, \begin{array}{c|c} 1 & 3 \\ 2 & 2 \end{array}, \begin{array}{c|c} 2 & 3 \\ 1 & 2 \end{array} \right\}.$$

Note that the stabilizer $\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F)$ consists only of the identity element, since there is no repeated entry within the same column. Therefore, we have $|\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F| = |\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}|$. Moreover, for fillings containing repeated entries in the same row, we have

$$W_F = \left\{ \begin{array}{c|c} 2 & 2 \\ \hline 1 & 3 \end{array}, \begin{array}{c} 1 & 3 \\ \hline 2 & 2 \end{array} \right\}.$$

Finally, we have $r^{F}(1) = (1)$, $r^{F}(2) = (2, 1)$, and $r^{F}(3) = (2)$. Hence we infer from (2.18) that $\lambda^{F}(1) = \emptyset$, $\lambda^{F}(2) = \emptyset$, and $\lambda^{F}(3) = (1)$.

Example 2.21. Let $\lambda = (2, 2, 2)$, so that $\overline{\lambda} = (3, 3)$ and $\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda} = \mathfrak{S}_3 \times \mathfrak{S}_3$. Consider

$$F = \boxed{\begin{array}{c|c} 2 & 3 \\ \hline 1 & 2 \\ \hline 2 & 3 \end{array}} \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$$

with $\varsigma = (s_1, s_2, s_3) = (1, 3, 2)$. In this case, we have $\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F) \cong \mathfrak{S}_2 \times \mathfrak{S}_2$, since the entries "2" and "3" appear twice on the left and right column, respectively. Therefore, the orbit

 \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} . *F* contains $6^2/4 = 9$ elements (and W_F consists of the last 6 elements in \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} . *F*):

2	3		2	3	1	2		2	2		2	3		2	2		2	3		1	3].	1	3
1	2	,	2	3	2	3	,	1	3	ĺ	1	3	ĺ	2	3	,	2	2)	2	2	ĺ	2	3
2	3		1	2	2	3		2	3		2	2		1	3		1	3		2	3		2	2

Finally, we have $r^F(1) = (2)$, $r^F(2) = (1, 3, 2)$, and $r^F(3) = (1, 3)$. Thus $r^{F, \text{ord}}(1) = r^F(1) = (2)$, $r^{F, \text{ord}}(2) = (3, 2, 1)$, and $r^{F, \text{ord}}(3) = (3, 1)$. We then have the permutations $\tau_{F;2} = (132)$ and $\tau_{F;3} = (13)$, and we infer from (2.18) that $\lambda^F(1) = (1)$, $\lambda^F(2) = \emptyset$, and $\lambda^F(3) = (1)$.

We now give a combinatorial formula for the fused Specht polynomials, equivalent to Equation (2.16) in Definition 2.12. This formula is key to obtain the linear independence in the proof of Theorem 2.14, and it is also of independent interest.

Proposition 2.22. Fix $F \in \text{Fill}_{S}^{\lambda}$. To each $U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F) \setminus W_{F}$, we associate the following monomial⁹:

$$m_U = m_U(x_1, \dots, x_d) := \prod_{k=1}^d \frac{(-1)^{\binom{s_k}{2}} \operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{U;k})}{s_k!} S_{\lambda^U(k)}(1^{s_k}) x_k^{|\lambda^U(k)|},$$
(2.19)

where $S_{\lambda^U(k)}(1^{s_k})$ is the Schur polynomial associated with the partition $\lambda^U(k)$ and evaluated at 1 for each of its s_k variables (see Appendix *A* for the definition of Schur polynomials).

Then, the fused Specht polynomial defined in (2.12) admits the following combinatorial formula:

$$\mathcal{F}_F = |\mathrm{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F)| \sum_{U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}, F) \setminus W_F} \mathrm{sgn}(\sigma_{F;U}) \ m_U.$$
(2.20)

Remark 2.23. The evaluation at (1^{s_k}) of the Schur polynomial $S_{\lambda^U(k)}$,

$$S_{\lambda^{U}(k)}(1^{s_{k}}) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le s_{k}} \frac{\lambda_{i}^{U}(k) - \lambda_{j}^{U}(k) + j - i}{j - i}$$

equals the number of column-strict (semistandard) Young tableaux of shape $\lambda^U(k)$ and entries in $\{1, \ldots, s_k\}$ (and any content). In particular, $S_{\emptyset}(1^{s_k}) = 1 = S_{(1^{s_k})}(1^{s_k})$ for $s_k \ge 1$.

Example 2.24. Consider again

$$F = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 3 \end{array}} \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$$

with $\lambda = (2, 2)$ and $\varsigma = (s_1, s_2, s_3) = (1, 2, 1)$. As explained in Example 2.20, the set $\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F$ has four elements, two of them lying in W_F , and $|\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F)| = 1$. Hence, the fused Specht polynomial $\mathcal{F}_F = \mathcal{F}_F(x_1, x_2, x_3)$ in (2.20) is a linear combination of two monomials:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\underline{12}} = m_{\underline{12}} + m_{\underline{23}} = m_F + m_U, \quad \text{where} \quad U = \frac{2}{12} \frac{3}{12}.$$

The permutation $\sigma_{F;U}$ is a product of two transpositions, so $sgn(\sigma_{F;U}) = 1$. The monomial m_F is then calculated from Equation (2.19) as follows:

$$= \frac{m_{\lfloor \frac{1}{2} \rfloor}}{s_1! s_2! s_3!} S_{\lambda^F(1)}(1^{s_1}) S_{\lambda^F(2)}(1^{s_2}) S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_3}) x_1^{|\lambda^F(1)|} x_2^{|\lambda^F(2)|} x_3^{|\lambda^F(3)|} S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_1}) S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_2}) S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_3}) x_1^{|\lambda^F(2)|} x_2^{|\lambda^F(3)|} S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_1}) S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_2}) S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_3}) x_1^{|\lambda^F(3)|} x_2^{|\lambda^F(3)|} S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_1}) S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_2}) S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_3}) x_1^{|\lambda^F(3)|} S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_3}) S_{\lambda^F($$

⁹Here, we use the convention that $\binom{a}{b} = 0$ if a < b.

$$=\frac{(-1)^{\binom{1}{2}+\binom{2}{2}+\binom{1}{2}}}{1!2!1!}S_{\emptyset}(1)S_{\emptyset}(1,1)S_{(1)}(1)x_{1}^{|\emptyset|}x_{2}^{|\emptyset|}x_{3}^{|(1)|} = -\frac{x_{3}}{2}.$$

The computation of

$$m_{\boxed{23}\\12} = -\frac{x_1}{2}$$

is quite similar, with the difference that $r^U(2) = (1, 2)$, so $r^{U,\text{ord}}(2) = (2, 1)$, which yield the transposition $\tau_{U;2} = (12)$ with $\text{sgn}(\tau_{U;2}) = -1$. We finally conclude that

$$\mathcal{F}_{\boxed{\frac{1}{2}\frac{2}{3}}} = \frac{x_1 - x_3}{2}.$$

Example 2.25. Consider then

$$F = \boxed{\begin{array}{c|c} 2 & 3 \\ \hline 1 & 2 \\ \hline 2 & 3 \end{array}} \in \operatorname{Fill}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$$

with $\lambda = (2, 2, 2)$ and $\varsigma = (s_1, s_2, s_3) = (1, 3, 2)$. As explained in Example 2.21, the sets \mathfrak{Q}_{λ} .*F* and W_F contain 9 and 6 elements, respectively. Hence, the fused Specht polynomial \mathcal{F}_F is a linear combination of three monomials. Each monomial is weighted by a factor $|\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F)| = 4$ and by the sign of the shortest permutation sending *U* to *F*. More precisely, straightforward computations show that

F	2	3	=	4m	2 3	1 +	4m	2	3	+	4 m	1	2	ŀ
	1	2			1 2	1		2	3			2	3	1
	2	3			2 3]		1	2			2	3	

The monomial m_F is then calculated from Equation (2.19) as follows:

$$\begin{split} & m \underbrace{\frac{2}{2}}_{\frac{3}{2}} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{\binom{s_1}{2} + \binom{s_2}{2} + \binom{s_3}{2}} \operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{F;1}\tau_{F;2}\tau_{F;3})}{s_1!s_2!s_3!} \, S_{\lambda^F(1)}(1^{s_1}) \, S_{\lambda^F(2)}(1^{s_2}) \, S_{\lambda^F(3)}(1^{s_3}) \, x_1^{|\lambda^F(1)|} x_2^{|\lambda^F(2)|} x_3^{|\lambda^F(3)|} \\ &= -\frac{(-1)^{\binom{1}{2} + \binom{3}{2} + \binom{2}{2}}}{1!3!2!} \, S_{(1)}(1) \, S_{\emptyset}(1,1,1) \, S_{(1)}(1,1) \, x_1^{|(1)|} x_2^{|\emptyset|} x_3^{|(1)|} \\ &= -\frac{1}{12} \cdot 1 \cdot 1 \cdot 2 \cdot x_1 x_3 \, = \, -\frac{x_1 x_3}{6}. \end{split}$$

Note that the new subtlety in this example is that the Schur polynomial $S_{(1)}(1,1)$ equals 2. The other monomials are computed in a similar way. Altogether, we find that

$$\mathcal{F}_{\underline{\frac{2}3}{\frac{1}{2}\frac{3}{3}}} = -\frac{2x_1x_3}{3} + \frac{x_1^2}{2} + \frac{x_3^2}{2} = \frac{(x_1 - x_3)^2}{3}.$$

With the notation explained, we now proceed with the proof of Proposition 2.22.

Proof of Proposition 2.22. The proof consists of an explicit computation of the formula (2.16) in Definition 2.12 utilizing the expression (2.4) for the Specht polynomial as a sum over monomials. First of all, we write the Specht polynomial $\mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}} = \mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}}(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ as follows:

$$\mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}} = \sum_{N \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}, \tilde{F}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};N}) \prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{i=q_{k}}^{q_{k+1}-1} x_{i}^{l_{i}^{N}(k)-1},$$
(2.21)

where $(l_i^N(k))_{i=1}^{s_k} = (r^N(q_k), r^N(q_k+1), \ldots, r^N(q_{k+1}-1))$ is the sequence of row numbers of the entries $q_k, \ldots, q_{k+1} - 1$. Recall that $p_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}}$ in (2.12) is the antisymmetrization of $\mathcal{P}_{\tilde{F}}$ with respect to the groups of variables $x_{q_k}, \ldots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}$ for all $k \in [\![1,d]\!]$. The formula (2.12) can readily be brought to the following form:

$$\mathcal{F}_{F} = \left[\sum_{N \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.\tilde{F}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};N}) \prod_{k=1}^{d} \frac{1}{s_{k}!(-1)^{\binom{s_{k}}{2}}} \frac{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_{k}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \prod_{i=q_{k}}^{q_{k+1}-1} x_{\sigma(i)}^{l_{i}^{N}(k)-1}}{\prod_{q_{k} \leq i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_{i} - x_{j})} \right]_{\text{eval}}.$$
 (2.22)

(Note that we introduced a factor $(-1)^{\binom{s_k}{2}}$ to replace $x_j - x_i$ by $x_i - x_j$ in the denominator.) Now, denote $\hat{W}_k := \{N \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.\tilde{F} \mid l_i^N(k) = l_j^N(k) \text{ for some } (i,j) \in [\![1,s_k]\!]^2, i \neq j\}$, and set $\hat{W} := \bigcup_{k=1}^d \hat{W}_k$. Any numbering $N \in \hat{W}$ leads to a vanishing term in the sum (2.22) because the product $\prod_{m=q_k}^{q_{k+1}-1} x_m^{l_m^N(k)-1}$ is a symmetric function of at least two variables, which therefore vanishes upon antisymmetrization. Thus, we obtain

$$\mathcal{F}_{F} = \left[\sum_{N \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}, \tilde{F}) \setminus \hat{W}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F}; N}) \prod_{k=1}^{d} \frac{1}{s_{k}! (-1)^{\binom{s_{k}}{2}}} \frac{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_{k}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \prod_{i=q_{k}}^{q_{k+1}-1} x_{\sigma(i)}^{l_{i}^{N}(k)-1}}{\prod_{q_{k} \leq i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_{i} - x_{j})} \right]_{\text{eval}}$$

Let $l_i^{N,\text{ord}}(k)$ be the ordering of $l_i^N(k)$ in decreasing order, and let $\tau_{N;k}$ be a permutation such that $(l_{\tau_{N;k}(i)}^N(k))_{i=1}^{s_k} = (l_i^{N,\text{ord}}(k))_{i=1}^{s_k}$. We reorganize the sum in the numerator as

$$\mathcal{F}_{F} = \left[\sum_{N \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}, \tilde{F}) \setminus \hat{W}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F}; N}) \prod_{k=1}^{d} \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{N; k})}{s_{k}! (-1)^{\binom{s_{k}}{2}}} \frac{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_{k}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \prod_{i=q_{k}}^{q_{k+1}-1} x_{\sigma(i)}^{l_{i}^{N, \operatorname{ord}}(k) - 1}}{\prod_{q_{k} \leq i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_{i} - x_{j})} \right]_{\operatorname{eval}}.$$

Introducing the partition

$$(\hat{\lambda}_{i}^{N}(k))_{i=1}^{s_{k}} = (l_{i}^{N, \text{ord}}(k) - s_{k} + i - 1)_{i=1}^{s_{k}},$$

we recognize the Schur polynomial (A.1) discussed in Appendix A:

$$\frac{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_k}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \prod_{i=q_k}^{q_{k+1}-1} x_{\sigma(i)}^{\hat{\lambda}_i^N(k)+s_k-i}}{\prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_i - x_j)} = S_{\hat{\lambda}^N(k)}(x_{q_k}, \dots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}).$$

Therefore, we infer that

$$\mathcal{F}_{F} = \left[\sum_{N \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}, \tilde{F}) \setminus \hat{W}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F}; N}) \prod_{k=1}^{d} \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{N; k})}{s_{k}! (-1)^{\binom{s_{k}}{2}}} S_{\hat{\lambda}^{N}(k)}(x_{q_{k}}, \dots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}) \right]_{\text{eval}}$$

We now investigate the sum over the numberings N in more detail. We have

$$(\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.\tilde{F})\backslash \hat{W} = \bigcup_{U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F)\backslash W_{F}} (\mathrm{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U)).\tilde{U},$$

where \tilde{U} is the numbering associated with the filling U, and $\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U).\tilde{U}$ is the orbit of \tilde{U} in $\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U)$. The right-hand side is clearly a disjoint union of sets, so \mathcal{F}_F equals

$$\left[\sum_{U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F) \setminus W_F} \sum_{N \in \mathsf{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U).\tilde{U}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};N}) \prod_{k=1}^{d} \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{N;k})}{s_{k}!(-1)^{\binom{s_{k}}{2}}} S_{\hat{\lambda}^{N}(k)}(x_{q_{k}},\ldots,x_{q_{k+1}-1})\right]_{\operatorname{eval}}.$$
 (2.23)

The last step of the proof consists of showing that all of the terms in the sum over $N \in \text{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U).\tilde{U}$ are equal. To this end, let us consider some filling $U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.F) \setminus W_F$

and two numberings $N_1, N_2 \in \operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U).\tilde{U}$ with $N_1 \neq N_2$. The key observation is that, although the sequences $l^{N_1}(k)$ and $l^{N_2}(k)$ are different for at least one index $k \in [\![1,d]\!]$, we have $l^{N_1,\operatorname{ord}}(k) = l^{N_2,\operatorname{ord}}(k)$ and therefore $\hat{\lambda}^{N_1}(k) = \hat{\lambda}^{N_2}(k)$ for all $k \in [\![1,d]\!]$. Hence, we have $\hat{\lambda}^N(k) = \lambda^U(k)$ for all $N \in \operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U).\tilde{U}$. It remains to prove that

$$\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};N_1}) \prod_{k=1}^d \operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{N_1;k}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};N_2}) \prod_{k=1}^d \operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{N_2;k}).$$
(2.24)

Because there exists a permutation $\omega \in \operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U)$ such that $\omega.N_1 = N_2$, we have

$$\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};N_2}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};\omega,N_1}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\omega)\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};N_1}).$$
(2.25)

Moreover, on the one hand, ω takes the form $\omega = \prod_{k=1}^{d} \omega_k$, where each ω_k acts on the boxes containing the entries $q_k, \ldots, q_{k+1} - 1$, while on the other hand, we have

$$l^{N_2}(k) = l^{\omega_k \cdot N_1}(k), \quad \text{for all } k \in [\![1, d]\!],$$

which implies that

$$\operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{N_2;k}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{\omega_k.N_1;k}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\omega_k) \operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{N_1;k}).$$
(2.26)

Therefore (2.24) follows from (2.25, 2.26). We thereby conclude that the second sum in (2.23) contains $|\text{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U)|$ times the same term, and we in fact have $|\text{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U)| = |\text{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F)|$. Taking \tilde{U} for the representative of the orbit $\text{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(U).\tilde{U}$, we finally obtain

$$\mathcal{F}_{F} = |\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(F)| \left[\sum_{U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda} \cdot F) \setminus W_{F}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};\tilde{U}}) \prod_{k=1}^{d} \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{\tilde{U};k})}{s_{k}!(-1)^{\binom{s_{k}}{2}}} S_{\lambda^{U}(k)}(x_{q_{k}}, \dots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}) \right]_{\operatorname{eval}}.$$

It finally remains to perform the evaluations of variables $x_{q_k} = x_{q_k+1} = \cdots = x_{q_{k+1}-1}$ for all $k \in [\![1,d]\!]$. First of all, note that $\operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{\tilde{U};k}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\tau_{U;k})$. Permutations between F and Umay differ by products of transpositions exchanging boxes in the same column and having the same entry. However, the permutation sending \tilde{F} to \tilde{U} does not contain any such transposition in its decomposition. Thus, the permutation sending \tilde{F} to \tilde{U} is the shortest permutation sending F to U. Hence, we have $\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{\tilde{F};\tilde{U}}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{F;U})$. Lastly, the evaluation of the Schur polynomial is obtained from the identity (A.3) from Appendix A.

Remark 2.26. If $s_k = 1$ for all k, then the filling F becomes a numbering and the fused Specht polynomial \mathcal{F}_F in (2.20) becomes a Specht polynomial \mathcal{P}_F . To see this, let us choose $N \in NB^{\lambda}$ in the formula (2.20). In this case W_N is the empty set, the group $\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda} = \mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N)$ and $\operatorname{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(N)$ is the trivial group. Moreover, since $s_k = 1$ for all k, the sequences $(r_i^U(k))_{i=1}^{s_k}$ contain one element only, which is the row number $r^U(k)$ where the entry "k" lies. Thus, $\tau_{U;k}$ is the identity permutation, and the partition in (2.18) becomes $(r^U(k) - 1)$. This implies that $s_{\lambda^U(k)}(1^{s_k}) = 1$. Altogether, the formula (2.20) reduces to (2.4), as expected:

$$\mathcal{F}_N = \sum_{U \in \mathfrak{C}^{\lambda}(N).N} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{N;U}) \prod_{k=1}^d x_k^{r^U(k)-1} = \mathcal{P}_N$$

2.3.2. Linear independence of the fused Specht polynomials. We will next show that the set $\{\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in \mathrm{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ is a collection of non-zero vectors (Lemma 2.27). In the case where λ is a Young diagram with two columns, we show in addition that $\{\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in \mathrm{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ is a set of linearly independent vectors (Proposition 2.30). This implies Theorem 2.14.

Lemma 2.27. Let $T \in \text{RSYT}^{\lambda}_{\varsigma}$ and consider the set $\{(|\lambda^{U}(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]} \mid U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.T) \setminus W_{T}\}$, where $(\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.T) \setminus W_{T}$ indexes the sum in (2.20); recall also Notation 2.18. Then, $(|\lambda^{T}(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]}$ is the unique minimum for the lexicographic order in this set. Hence, the coefficient of the monomial

$$\prod_{k=1}^{d} x_k^{|\lambda^T(k)|}$$
(2.27)

in \mathcal{F}_T equals (and implies in particular that \mathcal{F}_T is non-zero)

$$|\text{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(T)| \prod_{k=1}^{d} \frac{\text{sgn}(\tau_{T;k})}{s_{k}!(-1)^{\binom{s_{k}}{2}}} S_{\lambda^{T}(k)}(1^{s_{k}}),$$
(2.28)

where $S_{\lambda^T(k)}(1^{s_k})$ is the Schur polynomial associated with the partition $\lambda^T(k)$ and evaluated at 1 for each of its s_k variables (see Appendix *A* for the definition of Schur polynomials).

Proof. Fix $U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.T) \setminus W_T$ such that $U \neq T$. Let $i \in [\![1,d]\!]$ be the smallest index such that U and T differ at the positions of i. Consider two "skew" Young tableaux T' and U' obtained from T and U by removing boxes containing a number in $[\![1, i-1]\!]$. Since T' is column-strict (semistandard), we see that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{s_i} r_j^U(i) > \sum_{j=1}^{s_i} r_j^T(i),$$

which, using the definition (2.18) leads to

$$(|\lambda^U(k)|)_{k \in \llbracket 1,d \rrbracket} > (|\lambda^T(k)|)_{k \in \llbracket 1,d \rrbracket}$$

We then infer that $(|\lambda^T(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]}$ is indeed a minimum for the lexicographic order in the set $\{(|\lambda^U(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]} \mid U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}.T) \setminus W_T\}$. Consequently, the only monomial in

$$\mathcal{F}_T = |\mathsf{Stab}_{\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda}}(T)| \sum_{U \in (\mathfrak{Q}_{\lambda},T) \setminus W_T} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{T;U}) m_U$$

proportional to (2.27) is obtained at U = T. This gives the coefficient (2.28).

Lemma 2.28. Let λ be a Young diagram with two columns. The map $T \in \text{RSYT}^{\lambda}_{\varsigma} \mapsto (|\lambda^{T}(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]}$ is injective.

Proof. Let $T, T' \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ such that $(|\lambda^{T}(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]} = (|\lambda^{T'}(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]}$. Suppose $T \neq T'$. Let i be the smallest index such that T and T' differ at the positions of i. Consider two "skew" Young diagrams obtained by keeping only boxes containing i in T (resp. T'): both consist of either one single column diagram, or two disconnected column diagrams. Because these skew diagrams are different for T and T', and both T and T' have two columns, we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{s_i} r_j^{T'}(i) \neq \sum_{j=1}^{s_i} r_j^{T}(i).$$

However, this implies $|\lambda^{T'}(i)| \neq |\lambda^{T}(i)|$, a contradiction. Hence, we deduce that T = T'. \Box

Remark 2.29. Lemma 2.28 does not hold when λ is a Young diagram with more than two columns. As a counterexample, let us consider the two row-strict Young tableaux



In this case, we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{2} r_{j}^{T_{1}}(3) = \sum_{j=1}^{2} r_{j}^{T_{2}}(3) = 5 = \sum_{j=1}^{2} r_{j}^{T_{1}}(4) = \sum_{j=1}^{2} r_{j}^{T_{2}}(4),$$

which implies in particular that

 $|\lambda^{T_1}(i)| = |\lambda^{T_2}(i)|,$ for all i = 1, 2, 3, 4.

Hence, the map $T \in \text{RSYT}^{\lambda}_{\varsigma} \mapsto (|\lambda^{T}(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]}$ is not injective in this case.

Proposition 2.30. Let λ be a Young diagram with two columns. The set $\{\mathcal{F}_T \mid T \in RSYT_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}\}$ is linearly independent.

Proof. Suppose that there is a linear relation with coefficients (α_T) not identically zero:

$$\sum_{T \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}} \alpha_T \mathcal{F}_T = 0, \qquad \alpha_T \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha_T \neq 0 \text{ for some } T \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}.$$
(2.29)

Take $T \in \{U \in \text{RSYT}_{S}^{\lambda} \mid \alpha_{U} \neq 0\}$ such that $(|\lambda^{T}(k)|)_{k \in [\![1,d]\!]}$ is the minimum for the lexicographic order (unique by Lemma 2.28). By Lemma 2.27, the coefficient of the monomial (2.27) in the linear relation (2.29) is nonzero, which is a contradiction.

This concludes the proof of Theorem 2.14. To prove Conjecture 2.15, one should find an argument replacing Lemma 2.28. We only use Theorem 2.14 in the sequel.

3. The space of c = 1 degenerate conformal blocks

Next, we apply the fused Specht polynomials from Section 2 to construct a basis for a space of conformal blocks in a CFT with central charge c = 1 and conformal weights in the Kac table (1.2). Their correlation functions form a basis for a solution space S_{ς} of a special class of BPZ PDEs, known as "Benoît & Saint-Aubin equations" [BSA88] (that we will call "conformal block basis functions"), see Theorem 3.24. We also gather some algebraic structure related to the conformal block basis: in particular, we show that S_{ς} is isomorphic to a standard module of the valenced Temperley-Lieb algebra (Proposition 3.20).

The key importance of these conformal block basis functions is that they are expected (and in some cases known) to give rise to a family of conformally invariant boundary conditions for Gaussian free field (GFF) [MS16, PW19, LW21]. Concrete formulas for them will thus be needed in applications for problems in random geometry (which we plan to return to in future work). With this in mind, we briefly discuss the relationship of our construction with the prior literature and show that special cases of our conformal block basis functions indeed equal the ones used in GFF applications — see Section 3.1.

Throughout the rest of this section, we assume that n = 2N is a given positive even integer, and all (fused) Specht polynomials will be associated with two-column rectangular Young tableaux of n boxes. In particular, Theorem 2.14 is applicable in this setup.

3.1. Conformal blocks for unit valences $\varsigma = (1^n)$ with n = 2N. Recall that SYT^(N,N) is the set of standard Young tableaux of shape $\lambda = (N, N)$. For each $T \in SYT^{(N,N)}$, we associate its *transpose* $T^t \in SYT^{(2^N)}$ which is obtained by exchanging the rows and columns of T.

Definition 3.1. For each $T \in SYT^{(N,N)}$, we define the *conformal block basis function* as

$$\mathcal{U}_T(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}) := \Delta(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})^{-1/2} \mathcal{P}_{T^t}(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}),$$
(3.1)

where \mathcal{P}_{T^t} is the Specht polynomial (2.2) and Δ is the Vandermonde determinant (2.1).

Note that the conformal block functions are positive functions $\mathcal{U}_T \colon \mathfrak{X}_{2N} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ on

$$\mathfrak{X}_{2N} := \{ (x_1, \dots, x_{2N}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2N} \mid x_1 < \dots < x_{2N} \}.$$

Because they are also Möbius covariant and satisfy a system of second order BPZ PDEs (see (3.2, 3.3)), they give rise to "partition functions" for interacting Schramm-Loewner evolution, SLE₄ curves. This fact is important for their probabilistic interpretation [PW19].

Generally speaking, in this section we consider positive smooth functions $F \colon \mathfrak{X}_{2N} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ satisfying the below three properties. The first one is the following system of BPZ PDEs:

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_j^2} + \sum_{k \neq j} \left(\frac{1}{x_k - x_j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} - \frac{1/4}{(x_k - x_j)^2}\right)\right) F(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}) = 0, \qquad j \in [\![1, 2N]\!].$$
(3.2)

Second, for all Möbius transformations $\varphi \colon \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$ of the upper half-plane $\mathbb{H} := \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Im}(z) > 0\}$ such that $\varphi(x_1) < \cdots < \varphi(x_{2N})$, we require the covariance

$$F(\varphi(x_1), \dots, \varphi(x_{2N})) = \prod_{i=1}^{2N} \varphi'(x_i)^{-1/4} \times F(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}).$$
(3.3)

Finally, we insist that there exist constants C > 0 and p > 0 such that for all $N \ge 1$ and $(x_1, \ldots x_{2N}) \in \mathfrak{X}_{2N}$ the following power-law bound holds:

$$F(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}) \le C \prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N} |x_j - x_i|^{\mu_{ij}(p)} \quad \text{with} \quad \mu_{ij}(p) \coloneqq \begin{cases} -p, & |x_i - x_j| < 1, \\ +p, & |x_i - x_j| \ge 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

The first space of interest to us describes correlation functions with Kac type conformal weights $h_{1,2} = 1/4$ as in (1.2) for a conformal field theory of central charge c = 1:

$$S_{(1^{2N})} = S_{(1,\dots,1)} := \{F \colon \mathfrak{X}_{2N} \to \mathbb{R} \mid F \text{ satisfies (3.2), (3.3), and (3.4)}\}.$$
(3.5)

It follows from the results [FK15a, FK15b] of Flores & Kleban that $\dim S_{(1^{2N})}$ equals the *N*-th Catalan number. We will see that the conformal block basis functions $\{U_T \mid T \in SYT^{(N,N)}\}$ of Definition 3.1 indeed span $S_{(1^{2N})}$ and are linearly independent. Indeed, to establish this we only need to show that they coincide with the conformal blocks in [PW19, Eq. (6.1)], which was proven to be a basis for $S_{(1^{2N})}$ by Peltola & Wu [PW19].

Lemma 3.2. The collection $\{\mathcal{U}_T \mid T \in SYT^{(N,N)}\}$ is a basis for $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$.

Proof. Observe that the set SYT^(N,N) of standard Young tableaux of shape $\lambda = (N, N)$ is in bijection with the set LP_N of planar N-link patterns, that is, planar pair partitions $\alpha = \{\{a_1, b_1\}, \{a_2, b_2\}, \dots, \{a_N, b_N\}\}$ of the set $\{1, 2, \dots, 2N\}$. (The latter can be used to label connectivities of planar curves as in [PW19].) Indeed, without loss of generality, we may assume that $a_1 < a_2 < \dots < a_N$ and $a_j < b_j$ for all *j*. Then, it is not hard to check that a bijection is obtained by sending the element of the first (resp. second) row and *i*-th column of a tableau $T \in SYT^{(N,N)}$ to the *i*-th element of $\{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_N\}$ (resp. $\{b_1, b_2, \dots, b_N\}$) associated with $\alpha \in LP_N$ — from the fact that *T* is strictly increasing across each row and down each column one obtains that α is a planar pairing. Using this bijection, we obtain

$$\mathcal{U}_T(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N} (x_j - x_i)^{\frac{1}{2}\theta_{\alpha(T)}(i,j)},$$

where $\alpha(T) \in LP_N$ is the link pattern corresponding to $T \in SYT^{(N,N)}$ and

$$\theta_{\alpha}(i,j) := \begin{cases} +1, & i, j \in \{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_N\} \text{ or } i, j \in \{b_1, b_2, \dots, b_N\}, \\ -1, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This is exactly [PW19, Eq. (6.1)], which is known to form a basis for $S_{(1^{2N})}$.

Remark 3.3. Both SYT^(N,N) and LP_N are in bijection with the set DP_N of *Dyck paths*: walks ϖ on $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ of 2N steps with steps of length one, starting and ending at zero. The conformal block functions \mathcal{U}_T can then be related to piecewise constant Dirichlet boundary conditions for the GFF (see [PW19, Sect. 6.4] for details) as follows. For fixed $x_1 < \cdots < x_{2N}$, consider the GFF Γ_{ϖ} on the upper-half plane $\mathbb{H} := \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \text{Im}(z) > 0\}$ with boundary data¹⁰

$$\frac{\pi}{2}(2\varpi(k)-1), \text{ if } x \in (x_k, x_{k+1}), \text{ for all } k \in [[0, 2N]],$$

Then, the level lines of Γ_{ϖ} started at the points (x_1, \ldots, x_{2N}) are SLE₄ curves with partition function $\mathcal{U}_{T(\varpi)}(x_1, \ldots, x_{2N})$, where $T(\varpi) \in \text{SYT}^{(N,N)}$ is the Young tableau corresponding to the Dyck path ϖ (this is a special case of [MS16, Thm. 1.1]; see [PW19, Prop. 6.8] for details). This model was further investigated by Liu & Wu in [LW21].

Remark 3.4. Note that since each Dyck path ϖ has steps of length one (cf. Remark 3.3), the height gaps in the GFF Γ_{ϖ} have absolute value π . This is also the most common height gap when considering level lines of the GFF [SS13]. Liu & Wu defined in [LW21, Eq. (5.15, 5.16, 5.17)] three functions generalizing the conformal block functions and related them to height gaps of absolute value 2π . It is not hard to check that these functions are the three elements of our conformal block basis $S_{(2,2,2,2)}$, which we define in the next section using the fused Specht polynomials. We shall detail this connection in Remark 3.19.

3.2. **Temperley-Lieb action and braiding.** Next, we make explicit the action on the space $S_{(1^{2N})}$ of the Temperley-Lieb algebra $\mathsf{TL}_{2N} = \mathsf{TL}_{2N}(\nu) = \mathsf{TL}_{2N}(2)$, with loop fugacity $\nu := -q - q^{-1} \in \mathbb{C}$ equaling 2 for q = -1. It arises from *braiding* of the conformal block basis functions \mathcal{U}_T , when viewed as functions on $\{(z_1, \ldots, z_{2N}) \in \mathbb{C}^{2N} \mid z_i \neq z_j \text{ for } i \neq j\}$.

The braid group \mathfrak{B}_n on n strands is generated by $b_i \in \mathfrak{B}_n$ for $i \in [[1, n-1]]$ with relations

$$b_i b_{i+1} b_i = b_{i+1} b_i b_{i+1}, \text{ for } i \in [\![1, n-2]\!],$$

 $b_i b_j = b_j b_j, \text{ for } |j-i| > 1.$

 \mathfrak{B}_n is isomorphic to the fundamental group (the first homotopy group) of the complex quotient manifold $\mathcal{C}_n := \{(z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid z_i \neq z_j \text{ for } i \neq j\} \setminus \mathfrak{S}_n$, where the symmetric group acts by permutation of coordinates (see, e.g., [Kas95b, Rem. 2.3 in Sect. XIX.2]).

The braid group \mathfrak{B}_{2N} acts naturally on the conformal block functions \mathcal{U}_T by

 $b_k \mathcal{U}_T(\dots, z_k, z_{k+1}, \dots) = \mathcal{U}_T(\dots, z_{k+1}, z_k, \dots), \qquad k \in [\![1, 2N - 1]\!],$ (3.6)

where z_k and z_{k+1} are exchanged along a counterclockwise loop of the fundamental group.

Remark 3.5. Let us emphasize that the conformal block basis for $S_{(1^{2N})}$ does not correspond to the "comb basis" frequently used in the literature (e.g., [DFMS97, KKP19]). A simple counterexample is the basis of conformal block functions for N = 2. We have

$$\mathcal{U}_{\underline{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{\frac{3}{2}}\underline{\frac{3}{4}}} = \Delta(x_{1,2,3,4})^{-1/2} \mathcal{P}_{\underline{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{\frac{1}{2}}\underline{\frac{2}{3}}\underline{\frac{1}{4}}} = \sqrt{\frac{(x_3 - x_1)(x_4 - x_2)}{(x_2 - x_1)(x_3 - x_2)(x_4 - x_1)(x_4 - x_3)}},$$
$$\mathcal{U}_{\underline{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{\frac{2}{3}}\underline{\frac{1}{4}}} = \Delta(x_{1,2,3,4})^{-1/2} \mathcal{P}_{\underline{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{\frac{2}{4}}} = \sqrt{\frac{(x_2 - x_1)(x_4 - x_3)}{(x_3 - x_1)(x_3 - x_2)(x_4 - x_1)(x_4 - x_2)}}.$$

Namely, each element of the comb basis is an eigenvector of $b_1 \in \mathfrak{B}_4$, while $\mathcal{U}_{\boxed{13 \\ 24}}$ is not.

¹⁰Here, we use the convention that $x_0 = -\infty$ and $x_{2N+1} = +\infty$.

Recall from Lemmas 2.1 & 2.3 that the space $P^{(2^N)}$ of Specht polynomials is a simple module of the symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_{2N} , where permutations act on the variables $x_{1,\dots,2N} :=$ (x_1,\dots,x_{2N}) . The action (3.6) of the braid group generators b_k on $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$ can be related to the action of the symmetric group generators $\tau_k = (k, k+1)$ (transpositions) on $P^{(2^N)}$ as

$$b_k \mathcal{U}_T = -i \Delta(\mathbf{x}_{1,\dots,2N})^{-1/2} \tau_k \mathcal{P}_{T^t}, \qquad k \in [\![1,2N-1]\!].$$
 (3.7)

In particular, this induces an action of the symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_{2N} (or, equivalently, of the Hecke algebra $\mathsf{H}_{(1^{2N})}(-1)$) on $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$. The action of the generators τ_k is then given by

$$\tau_k \mathcal{U}_T = -i b_k \mathcal{U}_T = \Delta(x_{1,\dots,2N})^{-1/2} (-\tau_k) \mathcal{P}_{T^t}, \qquad k \in [\![1,2N-1]\!].$$
(3.8)

(So the action of τ_k on \mathcal{U}_T is not just transposition of the *k*-th and (k + 1)-st coordinates.) Utilizing the involutive algebra automorphism ω of $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{2N}]$ defined in (2.7), we have

$$a \mathcal{U}_T = \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{1,\dots,2N})^{-1/2} \,\omega(a) \mathcal{P}_{T^t}, \qquad a \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{2N}].$$
(3.9)

Remark 3.6. From Remark 2.4, we see that the \mathfrak{S}_{2N} -module $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$ is isomorphic to the simple module $V^{(N,N)}$. Moreover, the conformal block basis $\{\mathcal{U}_T \mid T \in SYT^{(N,N)}\}$ of $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$ is sent in this isomorphism to the basis of dual polytabloids of $V^{(N,N)}$ — see Remark 2.5.

We now proceed with the action on $S_{(1^{2N})}$ of the Temperley-Lieb algebra.

Definition 3.7. The *Temperley-Lieb algebra* $\mathsf{TL}_n(\nu)$ with fugacity $\nu := -q - q^{-1} \in \mathbb{C}$ parameterized by $q \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ is generated by $e_i \in \mathsf{TL}_n(\nu)$ for $i \in [\![1, n - 1]\!]$ with relations

$$e_{i}^{2} = \nu e_{i}, \text{ for } i \in [[1, n - 1]],$$

$$e_{i}e_{i+1}e_{i} = e_{i}, \text{ for } i \in [[1, n - 2]],$$

$$e_{i}e_{i-1}e_{i} = e_{i}, \text{ for } i \in [[2, n - 1]],$$

$$e_{i}e_{j} = e_{j}e_{i}, \text{ for } |j - i| > 1.$$
(3.10)

The Temperley-Lieb algebra $TL_n(\nu)$ is isomorphic to a diagram algebra [Kau90] which, as a vector space, is generated by non-crossing planar tangles embedded in a rectangle connecting 2n points lying on the boundary. In this presentation, there are exactly n points on the left boundary and n points on the right boundary: e.g., two elements of $TL_4(\nu)$ are



Multiplication of diagrams is defined to be their concatenation with the additional rule that, whenever a loop is formed, it is removed and replaced by a scalar factor of $\nu = -q - q^{-1}$:



The product is extended bilinearly to the whole algebra. The isomorphism between the algebra defined by the presentation (3.10) and the diagram algebra is explicitly given by

$$e_{i} = \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 2 \\ \vdots \\ i-1 \\ \vdots \\ i+1 \\ i+2 \\ n \end{array} \qquad i \in [\![1, n-1]\!], \\ i \in [\![1, n-1]\!], \\ \vdots \\ n \end{array}$$

and the unit of the algebra is given by the through-line diagram



When *q* is not a root of unity, or when $q = \pm 1$, the algebra $\mathsf{TL}_n(\nu)$ with $\nu = -q - q^{-1}$ is semisimple, with its simple modules given by the so-called *standard modules* (cell modules)

 $\{\mathsf{L}_{n}^{(s)} \mid s \in \{n \text{ mod } 2, n \text{ mod } 2+2, \dots, n\}.$

Elements in the standard module $L_n^{(s)}$ can be understood diagrammatically as non-crossing planar tangles embedded in a rectangle and connecting n + s points on the boundary, with n points on the left boundary and s points on the right boundary, and such that the s points cannot be connected among each other. (See, e.g., [RSA14, FP18b] for a detailed account.) The multiplication rule is then given by concatenation with the rules that a loop is replaced by a factor ν as before, and whenever the resulting diagram connects points on the right boundary, it is set to zero. Examples of the action of $TL_4(\nu)$ on $L_4^{(2)}$ are



Remark 3.8. Setting $\tau_k = 1 - e_k$ for all k, the defining relations (3.10) of $\mathsf{TL}_n = \mathsf{TL}_n(2)$ with q = -1 can be written in the form

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_i^2 &= 1, & \text{for } i \in [\![1, n-1]\!], \\ \tau_i \tau_{i+1} \tau_i &= \tau_{i+1} \tau_i \tau_{i+1}, & \text{for } i \in [\![1, n-2]\!], \\ \tau_i \tau_j &= \tau_j \tau_i, & \text{for } |j-i| > 1, \end{aligned}$$

together with the important relation

$$1 - \tau_i - \tau_{i+1} + \tau_i \tau_{i+1} + \tau_{i+1} \tau_i - \tau_i \tau_{i+1} \tau_i = 0, \qquad \text{for } i \in [\![1, n-2]\!]. \tag{3.11}$$

This makes it clear that TL_n is a (nontrivial) quotient of the group algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ of the symmetric group (or equivalently, of the Hecke algebra $\mathsf{H}_{(1^n)}(-1)$).

Proposition 3.9. The representation of $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{2N}]$ on $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$ descends to a representation of TL_{2N} .

Proof. By Remark 3.8, it suffices to verify the relation (3.11). Denote by $\langle \tau_k, \tau_{k+1} \rangle \cong \mathfrak{S}_3$ the subgroup of \mathfrak{S}_{2N} generated by the transpositions τ_k and τ_{k+1} . By (3.9), we have

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \langle \tau_k, \tau_{k+1} \rangle} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \sigma \mathcal{U}_T = \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{1,\dots,2N})^{-1/2} \sum_{\sigma \in \langle \tau_k, \tau_{k+1} \rangle} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \omega(\sigma) \mathcal{P}_{T^t}$$
$$= \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{1,\dots,2N})^{-1/2} \sum_{\sigma \in \langle \tau_k, \tau_{k+1} \rangle} \sigma \mathcal{P}_{T^t}, \qquad k \in [\![1, 2N - 2]\!].$$
(3.12)

Since T^t is a Young tableau with two columns, at least two entries among k, k + 1, k + 2 lie on the same column. We thus infer that \mathcal{P}_{T^t} is antisymmetric in at least two variables among (x_k, x_{k+1}, x_{k+2}) . Hence, the symmetrization of \mathcal{P}_{T^t} with respect to (x_k, x_{k+1}, x_{k+2}) gives zero, which together with (3.12) implies that the relation (3.11) is satisfied.

Corollary 3.10. The TL_{2N} -module $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$ is isomorphic to the standard module $\mathsf{L}_{2N}^{(0)}$.

Proof. $S_{(1^{2N})}$ is isomorphic to $V^{(N,N)}$ as a $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{2N}]$ -module. By [PPR08, Lem. 4.2], the latter is isomorphic to $\mathsf{L}_{2N}^{(0)}$. Proposition 3.9 shows that these representations descend to the quotient TL_{2N} (cf. Remark 3.8), which proves the claim.

Remark 3.11. By virtue of Proposition 3.9, throughout this section we will often employ loose notations — e.g., we identify $\tau_k \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{2N}]$ and $\tau_k = 1 - e_k \in \mathsf{TL}_{2N}$ when acting on $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$. Note however that, when acting on functions in $\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$, the action (3.8) of the element $\tau_k \in \mathsf{TL}_{2N}$ is *not a permutation of the variables*: for each $k \in [1, 2N - 1]$, we have

$$\tau_k \mathcal{U}_T(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}) = \Delta(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})^{-1/2} (-\tau_k) \mathcal{P}_{T^t}(x_1, \dots, x_k, x_{k+1}, \dots, x_{2N})$$

= $-\Delta(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})^{-1/2} \mathcal{P}_{T^t}(x_1, \dots, x_{k+1}, x_k, \dots, x_{2N}).$

Remark 3.12. With this identification, the relation $b_k = -i\tau_k = -i(1 - e_k)$ in the action (3.7) of TL_n corresponds to the familiar "skein relation" for the Kauffman bracket polynomial [Kau87], with deformation parameter q = -1 (and fugacity $\nu = 2$).

3.3. **Conformal blocks for general valences** ς . We now construct the spaces of c = 1 conformal blocks, denoted S_{ς} , for any valences $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$, and show that they carry representations of "fused" versions of the Temperley-Lieb algebra, called *valenced Temperley-Lieb algebras* [FP18b, FP20]. We begin with the definition of the valenced Temperley-Lieb algebra, which also gives systematic tools to carry out the fusion of the conformal blocks.

Definition 3.13. The *Jones-Wenzl idempotents* [Wen87] in the Temperley-Lieb algebra $\mathsf{TL}_n(\nu)$ are nonzero elements $\mathsf{JW}_{i,j} \neq 0$ for $i, j \in [\![1, n]\!]$ with i < j, defined recursively via

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{JW}_{i,j}\mathrm{JW}_{i,j} &= \mathrm{JW}_{i,j}, \\ e_k \ \mathrm{JW}_{i,j} &= \mathrm{JW}_{i,j} \ e_k = 0, \qquad \text{for all } k \in [\![i,j-1]\!]. \end{split}$$

In the case q = -1 (and $\nu = 2$), the Jones-Wenzl idempotents are given by the *symmetrizers*:

$$\mathbf{JW}_{i,j} = \frac{1}{(j-i+1)!} \sum_{\sigma \in \langle \tau_i, \tau_{i+1}, \dots, \tau_{j-1} \rangle} \sigma$$

(or rather, their images under the quotient map in Remark 3.8).

Consider the ς -symmetrizer idempotent s_{ς} of $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_n]$ defined in (2.6) and denote by \bar{s}_{ς} the corresponding image in the TL_n quotient (cf. Remark 3.8). Then, we have

$$\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} = \prod_{k=1}^{d} \mathsf{JW}_{q_k, q_{k+1}-1}, \quad \text{where} \quad q_k := 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} s_j, \quad k \in \llbracket 1, d \rrbracket$$

To define the fused conformal blocks, we use the notation (2.14) for $[f]_{\text{eval}}$. We will show that for each $f \in S_{(1^{2N})}$, the evaluations $x_{q_k} = x_{q_k+1} = \cdots = x_{q_{k+1}-1}$ for all $k \in [\![1,d]\!]$ of

$$\frac{\overline{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} \cdot f(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}}$$

yields a finite value. This gives the following result.

Proposition 3.14. *The following space of functions is well-defined:*

$$\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} := \left\{ F \colon \mathfrak{X}_d \to \mathbb{R} \mid F = \left\lfloor \frac{\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} \cdot f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right\rfloor_{\text{eval}}, \ f \in \mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})} \right\}.$$
(3.13)

Proof. By Lemma 3.2, for every $f \in S_{(1^{2N})}$ there is a polynomial $\mathcal{P} \in P^{2^N}$ such that

$$f = \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{1,\dots,2N})^{-1/2} \mathcal{P}_{\boldsymbol{x}}$$

Thus, the claim follows by noting that

$$\bar{s}_{\varsigma} f = \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{1,...,2N})^{-1/2} \,\omega(s_{\varsigma}) \mathcal{P} = \Delta(\boldsymbol{x}_{1,...,2N})^{-1/2} \,p_{\varsigma} \mathcal{P},$$
(3.14)

and $p_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}$ is divisible by $\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \leq i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i).$

Using Proposition 3.14, we define a family $\{\mathcal{U}_T \mid T \in \mathrm{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)}\}$, where $\mathrm{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{\lambda}$ is the set of column-strict Young tableaux of shape (N, N) and content ς . We set

$$\mathcal{S}_{\varsigma} := \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{U}_T \mid T \in \operatorname{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)} \}.$$
(3.15)

In Lemma 3.16, we write \mathcal{U}_T in the form $\mathcal{U}_T = \mathcal{KF}_{T^t}$ where \mathcal{K} is a normalization factor independent of T, and \mathcal{F}_{T^t} is the fused Specht polynomial (Definition 2.12). As the collection $\{\mathcal{F}_{T^t} \mid T \in \text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)}\}$ is linearly independent by Proposition 2.30, this implies that the collection $\{\mathcal{U}_T \mid T \in \text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)}\}$ is linearly independent and thus forms a basis for \mathcal{S}_{ς} .

Definition 3.15. For each $T \in \text{CSYT}_{S}^{(N,N)}$, we define the *conformal block basis function* as

$$\mathcal{U}_T(x_1, \dots, x_d) := \left[\frac{\overline{s}_{\varsigma} \mathcal{U}_{\hat{T}}}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right]_{\text{eval}},$$
(3.16)

where $\hat{T} := (\tilde{F})^t$ with $F = T^t \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(2^N)}$ being the transpose of $T \in \text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)}$, and $\tilde{F} \in \text{SYT}^{\lambda}$ constructed as in Definition 2.8 and Lemma 2.9.

This definition is motivated by fusion in CFT: the left-hand side in (3.16) should be a correlation function of CFT fields obtained from fusion of fields with Kac type conformal weights $h_{1,2} = 1/4$ as in (1.2) — and the correlation functions of the latter are given by the functions in the solution space $S_{(1^{2N})}$ in (3.5) [FK15a]. Now, Lemma 3.2 implies that the conformal block functions appearing on the right-hand side in (3.16) form a basis for this space, and can hence be thought of as conformal blocks. Finally, the evaluation operation on the right-hand side in (3.16) is nothing but a fusion with the appropriate fusion channels,

to obtain CFT fields with more general Kac type conformal weights in (1.2) labeled by the valences ς . We shall make this heuristics precise in the course of the rest of this article.

Let us begin by observing that the (fused) conformal block basis functions can be written even more explicitly using the fused Specht polynomials \mathcal{F}_F from Definition 2.12. Recall that the latter also have an explicit combinatorial formula (2.20) obtained in Proposition 2.22.

Lemma 3.16. Fix $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ with $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = 2N$. Let $T \in \text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)}$, and let $T^t \in \text{RSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(2^N)}$ be its transpose. The conformal block function \mathcal{U}_T then reads

$$\mathcal{U}_T(x_1, \dots, x_d) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le d} (x_j - x_i)^{-\frac{s_i s_j}{2}} \times \mathcal{F}_{T^t}(x_1, \dots, x_d).$$
(3.17)

Proof. Utilizing (3.14), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{U}_T(x_1,\dots,x_d) &\coloneqq \left[\frac{\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{U}_{\hat{T}}}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right]_{\text{eval}} \\ &= \left[\frac{\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}_{\widetilde{T}^i}}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)} \frac{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}}{\sqrt{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N} (x_j - x_i)}} \right]_{\text{eval}}. \end{aligned}$$

These two ratios have a well-defined evaluation. Indeed, it follows from Definition 2.12 that the first fraction gives \mathcal{F}_{T^t} . Moreover, by Proposition 2.13 we have

$$\left[\frac{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d}\prod_{q_k\leq i< j< q_{k+1}}(x_j - x_i)}}{\sqrt{\prod_{1\leq i< j\leq 2N}(x_j - x_i)}}\right]_{\text{eval}} = \prod_{1\leq i< j\leq d} (x_j - x_i)^{-\frac{s_i s_j}{2}}.$$

This gives the asserted identity (3.17).

Proposition 3.17. *The collection* $\{\mathcal{U}_T \mid T \in \mathrm{CSYT}_{S}^{(N,N)}\}$ *is a basis for* \mathcal{S}_{S} *in* (3.15).

Proof. Lemma 3.16 gives an explicit expression of each conformal block function U_T in terms of fused Specht polynomials. The claim thus follows from Proposition 2.30.

Remark 3.18. If $\varsigma = (1, 1, ..., 1) = 1^n$ with d = n = 2N, then and $T \in SYT^{(N,N)}$. Moreover, by Remark 2.26 the fused Specht polynomial \mathcal{F}_{T^t} then becomes the classical Specht polynomial \mathcal{P}_{T^t} . Hence \mathcal{U}_T reduces to the conformal block function (3.1) of [PW19].

Remark 3.19. Let us check that our functions match with [LW21, Eq. (5.15, 5.16, 5.17)] as discussed in Remark 3.4. These functions were shown to have an important interpretation for GFF level sets with height gaps $\pm 2\pi$. We expect that our more general functions play the same role for GFF level sets of type [ALS20] with more general height gaps.

Consider the conformal block functions in $S_{(2,2,2,2)}$. We have dim $S_{(2,2,2,2)} = 3$, because there are three column-strict Young tableaux with this set of contents:

$$T_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 2 & 2 \\ \hline 3 & 3 & 4 & 4 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad T_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 3 & 3 \\ \hline 2 & 2 & 4 & 4 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad T_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 2 & 3 \\ \hline 2 & 3 & 4 & 4 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Utilizing Lemma 3.16, we compute the conformal block functions $\{U_{T_1}, U_{T_2}, U_{T_3}\}$ spanning $S_{(2,2,2,2)}$. First of all, the fused Specht polynomials $\mathcal{F}_{T_1^t}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{T_2^t}$ are immediately computed, because any given entry appears only in one column (see Proposition 2.13). This gives

$$\mathcal{F}_{T_1^t} = (x_2 - x_1)^4 (x_4 - x_3)^4$$
 and $\mathcal{F}_{T_2^t} = (x_3 - x_1)^4 (x_4 - x_2)^4$.

Therefore, thanks to Lemma 3.16 we immediately obtain

$$\mathcal{U}_{T_1} = \left(\frac{(x_2 - x_1)(x_4 - x_3)}{(x_3 - x_1)(x_3 - x_2)(x_4 - x_1)(x_4 - x_2)}\right)^2$$
$$\mathcal{U}_{T_2} = \left(\frac{(x_3 - x_1)(x_4 - x_2)}{(x_2 - x_1)(x_3 - x_2)(x_4 - x_1)(x_4 - x_3)}\right)^2.$$

Hence, we readily see that U_{T_1} and U_{T_2} correspond to [LW21, Eq. (5.16, 5.15)].

The third conformal block function U_{T_3} is slightly more intricate, because the entries "2" and "3" appear in two different columns in T_3^t . Thus, consider $\hat{T}_3 \in SYT^{(4,4)}$, with transpose

$$\widetilde{T_{3}^{t}} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c|c} 1 & 4 \\ 2 & 6 \\ 3 & 7 \\ 5 & 8 \end{array}}$$

as in Definition 2.8. From Definition 2.12 and Lemma 3.16, we obtain

$$\frac{\mathcal{U}_{T_3^t}(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)}{\prod_{1 \le i < j \le 4} (x_j - x_i)^{-2}} = \begin{bmatrix} p_{(2,2,2,2)} \cdot \mathcal{P}_{\widetilde{T_3^t}}(y_1, \dots, y_8) \\ (y_2 - y_1)(y_4 - y_3)(y_6 - y_5)(y_8 - y_7) \end{bmatrix}_{\substack{y_2 = y_1 = x_1, \\ y_4 = y_3 = x_2, \\ y_6 = y_5 = x_3, \\ y_8 = y_7 = x_4}}$$

where $p_{(2,2,2,2)}$ acts by antisymmetrizing with respect to the sets of variables $\{x_1, x_2\}$, $\{x_3, x_4\}$, $\{x_5, x_6\}$, and $\{x_7, x_8\}$. Note that this formula slightly simplifies because the Specht polynomial $\mathcal{P}_{\widetilde{T}_3^t}$ is by definition antisymmetric with respect to $\{x_1, x_2\}$ and $\{x_7, x_8\}$. Hence, an explicit computation then finally leads to [LW21, Eq. (5.17)].

3.4. Valenced Temperley-Lieb action. We will next consider the *valenced Temperley-Lieb* algebra $TL_{\varsigma} = TL_{\varsigma}(2)$ with fugacity $\nu = -q - q^{-1} = 2$, i.e., with deformation parameter q = -1. It is isomorphic to a diagram algebra of valenced tangles [FP18b] (which we will not, however, use in the present work). It is conveniently defined as the associative algebra

$$\mathsf{TL}_{\varsigma} := \mathsf{TL}_{\varsigma}(2) := \bar{\mathsf{s}}_{\varsigma} \mathsf{TL}_{2N}(2) \bar{\mathsf{s}}_{\varsigma}$$

with unit \bar{s}_{ς} . Moreover, by Lemma 2.6, as the Temperley-Lieb algebra $\mathsf{TL}_{2N} = \mathsf{TL}_{2N}(2)$ is semisimple, so is TL_{ς} , and its simple modules are given by $\bar{s}_{\varsigma}(\mathsf{L}_{2N}^{(s)})$ whenever nontrivial¹¹. Let us lastly note that TL_{ς} is also isomorphic to a quotient of the fused Hecke algebras $\mathsf{H}_{\varsigma} := \mathsf{H}_{\varsigma}(-1) = \mathrm{p}_{\varsigma}\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{2N}]\mathrm{p}_{\varsigma} \cong \mathrm{s}_{\varsigma}\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{S}_{2N}]\mathrm{s}_{\varsigma} =: \mathsf{H}_{\varsigma}(1)$, discussed in Section 2.2 (cf. [Cd23]).

Proposition 3.17 implies the following result, which is an analog of Theorem 2.14:

Proposition 3.20. Fix $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ with $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = 2N$. The map

$$\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma}.f \qquad \mapsto \quad \left\lfloor \frac{\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma}.f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right\rfloor_{\text{eval}}, \qquad f \in \mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}, \tag{3.18}$$

is a linear isomorphism from $\bar{s}_{\varsigma}(\mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})})$ to \mathcal{S}_{ς} , and it induces an isomorphism of TL_{ς} -modules as

$$(\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} a \bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma}) \cdot F = \left[\frac{(\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} a \bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma}) \cdot f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right]_{\text{eval}}, \quad a \in \mathrm{TL}_{2N}(2), \tag{3.19}$$

¹¹See [FP18b, FP18a] for a thorough study of this algebra.

where $f \in S_{(1^{2N})}$ is chosen such that

$$F = \left\lfloor \frac{\overline{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} \cdot f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right\rfloor_{\text{eval}} \in \mathcal{S}_{\varsigma}.$$

Moreover S_{ς} is isomorphic to the simple module $\bar{s}_{\varsigma}(L_{2N}^{(0)})$.

Proof. Recall that in (3.13), S_{ς} is defined via the map (3.18), and by Proposition 3.17, we have $\dim S_{\varsigma} = |\text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)}|$. Also, Corollary 3.10 (and its proof) shows that $\bar{s}_{\varsigma}(S_{(1^{2N})})$ is isomorphic to the TL_s-module $\bar{s}_{\varsigma}(L_{2N}^{(0)})$ and $\dim \bar{s}_{\varsigma}(L_{2N}^{(0)}) = \dim s_{\varsigma}(V^{(N,N)})$. The claim now follows, since from the proof of Proposition 2.10, we obtain $\dim s_{\varsigma}(V^{(N,N)}) = |\text{CSYT}_{\varsigma}^{(N,N)}|$.

3.5. **Covariance properties.** The purpose of this section is to verify that the conformal block functions satisfy the Möbius covariance of the primary fields with Kac weights (1.2).

Proposition 3.21. Let $\varphi \colon \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$ be a Möbius transformation such that $\varphi(x_1) < \cdots < \varphi(x_d)$. The conformal block functions \mathcal{U}_T satisfy the covariance property

$$\mathcal{U}_T(\varphi(x_1),\ldots,\varphi(x_d)) = \prod_{i=1}^d |\varphi'(x_i)|^{-s_i^2/4} \times \mathcal{U}_T(x_1,\ldots,x_d)$$

Proof. Applying $x_i \mapsto \varphi(x_i)$ for all i = 1, ..., d in (3.17) of Lemma 3.16, we obtain

$$\mathcal{U}_T(\varphi(x_1),\ldots,\varphi(x_d)) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le d} (\varphi(x_j) - \varphi(x_i))^{-s_i s_j/2} \times \mathcal{F}_{T^t}(\varphi(x_1),\ldots,\varphi(x_d)).$$

The claim now follows from Lemmas 3.22 and 3.23, proven below.

Lemma 3.22. Fix $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ with $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = 2N$. Let $\varphi \colon \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$ be a Möbius transformation such that $\varphi(x_1) < \cdots < \varphi(x_d)$. We have

$$\prod_{1 \le i < j \le d} (\varphi(x_j) - \varphi(x_i))^{-s_i s_j/2} = \prod_{i=1}^d \varphi'(x_i)^{s_i (s_i - 2N)/4} \times \prod_{1 \le i < j \le d} (x_j - x_i)^{-s_i s_j/2}.$$

Proof. This can be directly verified by utilizing the identity

$$\varphi(x) - \varphi(y) = (x - y)\sqrt{\varphi'(x)\varphi'(y)}, \qquad (3.20)$$

satisfied by all Möbius transformations φ , combined with the identity $2N = \sum_{j=1}^{d} s_j$. \Box

Lemma 3.23. Fix $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ with $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = 2N$. We have

$$\mathcal{F}_{T^{t}}(\varphi(x_{1}),\ldots,\varphi(x_{d})) = \prod_{i=1}^{d} \varphi'(x_{i})^{s_{i}(N-1)/2 - s_{i}(s_{i}-1)/2} \times \mathcal{F}_{T^{t}}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{d})$$

Proof. Using (3.1) from Definition 3.1 and Equations (3.3, 3.20) for U_T , we obtain

$$=\frac{\Pr_{\varsigma} \cdot \mathcal{P}_{\widetilde{T^{t}}}(\varphi(x_{1}), \dots, \varphi(x_{2N}))}{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_{k} \leq i < j < q_{k+1}}(\varphi(x_{j}) - \varphi(x_{i}))} = \frac{\Pr_{\varsigma} \cdot \left(\prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq 2N} \varphi'(x_{i})^{1/4} \varphi'(x_{j})^{1/4} \times \prod_{i=1}^{2N} \varphi'(x_{i})^{-1/4} \times \mathcal{P}_{\widetilde{T^{t}}}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{2N})\right)}{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_{k} \leq i < j < q_{k+1}}(x_{j} - x_{i})\varphi'(x_{i})^{1/2}\varphi'(x_{j})^{1/2}}.$$
(3.21)

Now, straightforward computations similar to those in the proof of Lemma 3.22 lead to

$$\prod_{1 \le i < j \le 2N} \varphi'(x_i)^{1/4} \varphi'(x_j)^{1/4} = \prod_{i=1}^{2N} \varphi'(x_i)^{(2N-1)/4},$$
(3.22)

$$\prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} \varphi'(x_i)^{1/2} \varphi'(x_j)^{1/2} = \prod_{i=q_k}^{q_{k+1}-1} \varphi'(x_i)^{(s_k-1)/2}$$
(3.23)

(recall here that $q_{k+1} - q_k = s_k$). Substituting (3.22, 3.23) into (3.21) yields

$$[(3.21)]_{\text{eval}} = \left[\frac{p_{\varsigma} \cdot \left(\prod_{j=1}^{2N} \varphi'(x_j)^{(N-1)/2} \times \mathcal{P}_{\widetilde{T}^{\widetilde{t}}}(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}) \right)}{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{i=q_k}^{q_{k+1}-1} \varphi'(x_k)^{(s_k-1)/2} \times \prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)} \right]_{\text{eval}}$$

Here, since the product $\prod_{j=1}^{2N} \varphi'(x_j)^{(N-1)/2}$ is symmetric in the x_j variables, we may also take it out of the antisymmetrizer p_s . Therefore, we infer from Definition 2.12 that

$$\mathcal{F}_{T^{t}}(\varphi(x_{1}),\ldots,\varphi(x_{d})) = [(3.21)]_{\text{eval}} = \left[\frac{\prod_{j=1}^{2N} \varphi'(x_{j})^{(N-1)/2}}{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{i=q_{k}}^{q_{k+1}-1} \varphi'(x_{k})^{(s_{k}-1)/2}}\right]_{\text{eval}} \times \mathcal{F}_{T^{t}}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{d})$$
$$= \prod_{k=1}^{d} \varphi'(x_{k})^{s_{k}(N-1)/2 - s_{k}(s_{k}-1)/2} \times \mathcal{F}_{T^{t}}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{d}).$$

This completes the proof.

3.6. **BPZ partial differential equations.** In this section, we consider a system of BPZ partial differential equations for the conformal block functions. To write them explicitly, let

$$\mathcal{L}_m^{(j)} := -\sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le d\\ i \ne j}} \left((x_i - x_j)^{1+m} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + \frac{1+m}{4} s_i^2 (x_i - x_j)^m \right)$$
(3.24)

be first order differential operators, using $h_{1,s_i+1} = s_i^2/4$ in the Kac table (1.2), and define

$$\mathcal{D}_{s_{j}+1}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1}^{s_{j}+1} \sum_{\substack{m_{1},\dots,m_{k}\geq 1\\m_{1}+\dots+m_{k}=s_{j}+1}} \frac{(-1)^{k-s_{j}-1}(s_{j}!)^{2}}{\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} (\sum_{i=1}^{l} m_{i})(\sum_{i=l+1}^{k} m_{i})} \times \mathcal{L}_{-m_{1}}^{(j)} \cdots \mathcal{L}_{-m_{k}}^{(j)}, \quad (3.25)$$

(These are also known as Benoît & Saint-Aubin equations [BSA88], in a CFT with central charge c = 1.) A special case of this is the second order PDE system (3.2), satisfied by the functions $U_T(x_1, \ldots, x_{2N})$ in Definition 3.1, which we will use to derive the general case.

Theorem 3.24. For each $T \in \text{CSYT}_{S}^{(N,N)}$, the conformal block function of Definition 3.15 satisfy

$$\mathcal{D}_{s_i+1}^{(j)} \mathcal{U}_T(x_1, \dots, x_d) = 0, \quad \text{for all } j \in [\![1, d]\!].$$

Due to the complexity of the general BPZ differential operators in Equation (3.25), our proof of Theorem 3.24 does not rely on a direct computation utilizing the explicit representation of Lemma 3.16. Instead, we follow a recursive approach. A key result for the proof will be to show that, if we start from a solution of two BPZ equations of orders $s_j + 1$ and $s_{j+1} + 1 = 2$ at x_j and x_{j+1} having a specific asymptotic behavior as $x_{j+1} \rightarrow x_j$, then we can construct a solution of a new BPZ equation of order $s_j + 2$ at x_j which no longer depends on x_{j+1} . More precisely, the following result is the key to the proof of Theorem 3.24.

Theorem 3.25. Fix $d \ge 2$. Fix $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ such that $s_k = \ell - 1$ and $s_{k+1} = 1$ for some $k \in [\![1, \ldots, d-1]\!]$. Also, let $F : \mathfrak{X}_d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth function satisfying the BPZ PDEs

$$\mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)} F(x_1, \dots, x_d) = 0, \quad \text{for all } j \in [\![1, d]\!].$$
 (3.26)

Finally, using the indices $h_{s+1} := h_{1,s+1}$ in the Kac table (1.2), assume that when $|x_{k+1} - x_k| > 0$ is small enough, the following (convergent) expansion holds:

$$F(x_1, \dots, x_d) = (x_{k+1} - x_k)^{h_{\ell+1} - h_\ell} \sum_{i \ge 0} f_i(\dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots) (x_{k+1} - x_k)^i,$$
(3.27)

where $f_i(x_1, \ldots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \ldots, x_d)$ are smooth functions on \mathfrak{X}_{d-1} . Then, f_0 satisfies the BPZ PDEs

$$\mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)} f_0(x_1, \dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots, x_d) = 0, \qquad j \in [\![1, d]\!], \ j \neq k, k+1,$$
(3.28)

$$\mathcal{D}_{\ell+1}^{(k)} f_0(x_1, \dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots, x_d) = 0.$$
(3.29)

A result similar to Theorem 3.25 was proven through a direct computation by Karrila, Kytölä, and Peltola in [KKP20, Lem. 5.6] in a specific scenario where the two "merging" points x_k and x_{k+1} have $s_k = s_{k+1} = 1$ and the other "spectator" points have $s_j = 1$ or $s_j = 2$. However, extending their proof to the case of arbitrary $s_k \ge 1$ for one of the two merging points is, again, a priori out of reach due to the complexity of the BPZ differential operator. Instead, we follow an approach developed by Dubédat in [Dub15b, Dub15a] which relies on the framework of Virasoro uniformization developed in particular by Kontsevich and Friedrich [Kon87, Kon03, FK04, Fri04]. Specifically, [Dub15a, Thm. 15] is a result similar to our Theorem 3.25, except that it only applies to irrational central charges $c \notin \mathbb{Q}$, whereas the present case of interest concerns unit central charge, c = 1. Nevertheless, several key lemmas to the proof of [Dub15a, Thm. 15] do still apply as well to c = 1 — and we will use them for the proof of Theorem 3.25 (Section 4.4). As a matter of convenience for the readers, the majority of this proof will be relegated to the next Section 4.

Recall that Definition 3.15 expresses the conformal block functions in terms of an evaluation of a linear combination of conformal block functions for $\varsigma = (1^{2N})$. In the next result, we rewrite (3.16) in such a form that Theorem 3.25 can be applied recursively.

Lemma 3.26. Fix $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ with $s_1 + \cdots + s_d = 2N$. Let $f \in \mathcal{S}_{(1^{2N})}$. Then, we have

$$\left[\frac{\overline{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma}.f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d}\prod_{q_{k}\leq i< j< q_{k+1}}(x_{j}-x_{i})}}\right]_{\text{eval}}$$
(3.30)

$$= \lim_{x_{q_d} \to x_d} \lim_{x_{q_d} + s_d - 1 \to x_{q_d}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_d} + s_d - 1 - x_{q_d})^{\frac{s_d - 1}{2}}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_d} + 2 \to x_{q_d}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_d} + 2 - x_{q_d})} \lim_{x_{q_d} + 1 \to x_{q_d}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_d} + 1 - x_{q_d})^{\frac{1}{2}}} \\ \times \cdots \times \lim_{x_{q_1} \to x_1} \lim_{x_{q_1} + s_1 - 1 \to x_{q_1}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_1} + s_1 - 1 - x_{q_1})^{\frac{s_1 - 1}{2}}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1} + 1 \to x_{q_1}} \frac{\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} \cdot f(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})}{(x_{q_1} + 1 - x_{q_1})^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

Proof. By Lemma 3.2, we can write $f = \Delta(\mathbf{x}_{1,...,2N})^{-1/2} \mathcal{P}$ for some polynomial $\mathcal{P} \in P^{2^N}$. We first rewrite the left-hand side of (3.30) utilizing (3.14):

$$\frac{\overline{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma}.f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d}\prod_{q_{k}\leq i< j< q_{k+1}}(x_{j}-x_{i})}} = \frac{\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}\left(\frac{\prod_{k=1}^{d}\prod_{q_{k}\leq i< j< q_{k+1}}(x_{j}-x_{i})^{1/2}}{\prod_{1\leq i< j\leq n}(x_{j}-x_{i})^{1/2}}\right)}{\prod_{k=1}^{d}\prod_{q_{k}\leq i< j< q_{k+1}}(x_{j}-x_{i})}.$$

Note now that

$$p_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P} = \prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i) \times q_1,$$
(3.31)

$$\prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (x_j - x_i) = \prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i) \times q_2,$$
(3.32)

where Q_1 and Q_2 are some polynomials, where in particular, Q_2 does not vanish at $x_i = x_j$ for $(i, j) \in [\![q_k, \dots, q_{k+1} - 1]\!]^2$ and $k \in [\![1, d]\!]$. This leads to the formula

$$\left\lfloor \frac{\overline{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} \cdot f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right\rfloor_{\text{eval}} = \left\lfloor \frac{Q_1}{\sqrt{Q_2}} \right\rfloor_{\text{eval}}$$
(3.33)

for the left-hand side of (3.30). We now examine the right-hand side of (3.30):

$$\lim_{x_{q_d} \to x_d} \lim_{x_{q_d+s_d-1} \to x_{q_d}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1} \to x_1} \lim_{x_{q_1+s_1-1} \to x_{q_1}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1+1} \to x_{q_1}} \frac{\bar{s}_{\varsigma} \cdot f(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^{m/2}}$$

$$= \lim_{x_{q_d} \to x_d} \lim_{x_{q_d+s_d-1} \to x_{q_d}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1} \to x_1} \lim_{x_{q_1+s_1-1} \to x_{q_1}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1+1} \to x_{q_1}} \frac{p_{\varsigma} \cdot \mathcal{P}\left(\frac{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^{m/2}}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^{m/2}}\right)}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^m}$$

We compute the chain of limits of each ratio separately. Fix $l \in [1, d]$. By (3.31),

$$\lim_{x_{q_l+s_l-1}\to x_{q_l}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_l+1}\to x_{q_l}} \frac{p_{\varsigma} \mathcal{P}(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^m}$$

=
$$\lim_{x_{q_l+s_l-1}\to x_{q_l}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_l+1}\to x_{q_l}} \frac{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{i=0}^{j-1} \prod_{j=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+j} - x_{q_k+i})}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^m} Q_1(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}).$$

This chain of limits acts only on the terms k = l in the product over k, so all terms for $k \neq l$ can be taken out. For the terms k = l on which the limits act, we obtain

$$\frac{\prod_{k=1,k\neq l}^{d}\prod_{m=1}^{s_{k}-1}(x_{q_{k}+m}-x_{q_{k}})^{m}}{\prod_{k=1,k\neq l}^{d}\prod_{i=0}^{j-1}\prod_{j=1}^{s_{k}-1}(x_{q_{k}+j}-x_{q_{k}+i})} \lim_{x_{q_{l}+s_{l}-1}\to x_{q_{l}}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_{l}+1}\to x_{q_{l}}} \frac{p_{\varsigma}.\mathcal{P}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{2N})}{\prod_{k=1}^{d}\prod_{m=1}^{s_{k}-1}(x_{q_{k}+m}-x_{q_{k}})^{m}} \\
= \lim_{x_{q_{l}+s_{l}-1}\to x_{q_{l}}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_{l}+1}\to x_{q_{l}}} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{s_{l}-2}(x_{q_{l}+s_{l}-1}-x_{q_{l}+i})}{(x_{q_{l}+s_{l}-1}-x_{q_{l}})^{s_{l}-1}} \cdots \frac{(x_{q_{l}+2}-x_{q_{l}+1})}{(x_{q_{l}+2}-x_{q_{l}})} Q_{1}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{2N}).$$

Since the limit of each ratio is finite at each step of the chain of limits, we obtain

$$\lim_{x_{q_l+s_l-1}\to x_{q_l}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_l+1}\to x_{q_l}} \frac{\mathbf{p}_{\varsigma} \cdot \mathcal{P}(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^m} \\ = \frac{\prod_{k=1, k\neq l}^d \prod_{i=0}^{j-1} \prod_{j=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+j} - x_{q_k+i})}{\prod_{k=1, k\neq l}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^m} \lim_{x_{q_l+s_l-1}\to x_{q_l}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_l+1}\to x_{q_l}} Q_1(x_1, \dots, x_{2N}).$$

Repeating the chain of limits as above for all $l \in [1, d]$, we conclude that

$$\lim_{x_{q_d} \to x_d} \lim_{x_{q_d+s_d-1} \to x_{q_d}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1} \to x_1} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1+1} \to x_{q_1}} \frac{p_{\varsigma} \mathcal{P}(x_1, \dots, x_{2N})}{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^m} = [Q_1]_{\text{eval}}.$$

Utilizing (3.32), similar arguments can be invoked to show that

$$\lim_{x_{q_d} \to x_d} \lim_{x_{q_d+s_d-1} \to x_{q_d}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1} \to x_1} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_1+1} \to x_{q_1}} \frac{\prod_{k=1}^d \prod_{m=1}^{s_k-1} (x_{q_k+m} - x_{q_k})^{m/2}}{\prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)^{1/2}} = \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{Q_2}}\right]_{\text{eval}}.$$

Multiplying the two equations above, we obtain the right-hand side of the sought (3.33).

Lemma 3.27. Let $F: \mathfrak{X}_d \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $F = P_1/\sqrt{P_2}$ for some polynomials P_1 and P_2 . Then, for any index $k \in [\![1, d-1]\!]$, there exists $\theta_k \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that when $|x_{k+1} - x_k| > 0$ is small enough, the following (convergent) expansion holds:

$$F(x_1,\ldots,x_d) = (x_{k+1} - x_k)^{\theta_k/2} \sum_{i \ge 0} f_i(\ldots,x_k,x_{k+2},\ldots) (x_{k+1} - x_k)^i.$$

Moreover, all coefficients f_i have the form $P_i/\sqrt{Q_i}$, where P_i and Q_i are polynomials in the variables $x_1, \ldots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \ldots, x_d$ (which do not depend on x_{k+1}).

Proof. The first claim readily follows, since for any $k \in [\![1, d-1]\!]$, there exists $\theta_k \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $F(x_1, \ldots, x_d) = (x_{k+1} - x_k)^{\theta_k/2}g(x_1, \ldots, x_d)$, where g is (real) analytic at $x_{k+1} = x_k$. Concerning the second claim, any f_i is of the form

$$f_i = \frac{1}{i!} \left[\partial_{x_{k+1}} \left((x_{k+1} - x_k)^{-\theta_k/2} F(x_1, \dots, x_d) \right) \right]_{x_{k+1} = x_k} = \frac{P_i}{\sqrt{Q_i}}$$

where P_i and Q_i are polynomials independent of x_{k+1} . This completes the proof.

We are now ready to prove Theorem 3.24.

Proof of Theorem 3.24. By definition (3.5), each function $f \in S_{(1^{2N})}$ satisfies $\mathcal{D}_2^{(j)} f = 0$, for all $j \in [\![1, 2N]\!]$. Note that Lemma 3.26 consists of d chains of limits. We proceed by induction on the number of limits, where the base case will be governed by $\bar{s}_{\varsigma} f \in S_{(1^{2N})}$. As the induction hypothesis, we suppose that for given $i \in [\![0, d]\!]$, the function

$$g(x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots, x_{i-1}, x_{q_{i}}, x_{q_{i}+1}, \dots, x_{2N})$$

$$= \lim_{x_{q_{i-1}} \to x_{i-1}} \lim_{x_{q_{i-1}+s_{i-1}-1} \to x_{q_{i-1}}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_{i-1}+s_{i-1}-1} - x_{q_{i-1}})^{(s_{i-1}-1)/2}}$$

$$\times \dots \times \lim_{x_{q_{i-1}+2} \to x_{q_{i-1}}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_{i-1}+2} - x_{q_{i-1}})} \lim_{x_{q_{i-1}+1} \to x_{q_{i-1}}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_{i-1}+1} - x_{q_{i-1}})^{1/2}}$$

$$\times \dots \times \lim_{x_{q_{1}} \to x_{1}} \lim_{x_{q_{1}+s_{1}-1} \to x_{q_{1}}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_{1}+s_{1}-1} - x_{q_{1}})^{(s_{1}-1)/2}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_{1}+1} \to x_{q_{1}}} \frac{\overline{s}_{\varsigma} \cdot f(x_{1}, \dots, x_{2N})}{(x_{q_{1}+1} - x_{q_{1}})^{1/2}}$$

is of the form P/\sqrt{Q} with some polynomials P and Q, and that g satisfies the BPZ PDEs

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)} g = 0, & \text{for all } j \in \llbracket 1, i-1 \rrbracket, \\ \mathcal{D}_2^{(j)} g = 0, & \text{for all } j \in \llbracket q_i, 2N \rrbracket. \end{cases}$$

(So the base case is i = 0, in which case we just have $\bar{s}_{\varsigma} \cdot f$ — indeed of the form P/\sqrt{Q} and satisfies $\mathcal{D}_2^{(j)} f = 0$ for all $j \in [\![1, 2N]\!]$.) Now, define g_k with $k \in [\![0, s_i - 1]\!]$ and such that

$$g_k(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{i-1}, x_{q_i}, x_{q_i+k+1}, x_{q_i+k+2}, \dots, x_{2N})$$

$$= \lim_{x_{q_i+k} \to x_{q_i}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_i+k} - x_{q_i})^{k/2}} \cdots \lim_{x_{q_i+2} \to x_{q_i}} \frac{1}{(x_{q_i+2} - x_{q_i})} \lim_{x_{q_i+1} \to x_{q_i}} \frac{g(\dots, x_{i-1}, x_{q_i}, x_{q_i+1}, \dots)}{(x_{q_i+1} - x_{q_i})^{1/2}}.$$
(3.34)

We now perform the induction step, i.e., show that the function g_{s_i-1} is also of the form P/\sqrt{Q} for some (different) polynomials P and Q, and that it satisfies the BPZ PDEs

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_{s_{j}+1}^{(j)} g = 0, & \text{for all } j \in [\![1, i]\!], \\ \mathcal{D}_{2}^{(j)} g = 0, & \text{for all } j \in [\![i+1, 2N]\!]. \end{cases}$$
(3.35)

By induction, this then implies that the following function satisfies $\mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)}h = 0$ for all *j*:

$$h := \left\lfloor \frac{\bar{\mathbf{s}}_{\varsigma} \cdot f}{\sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{d} \prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_j - x_i)}} \right\rfloor_{\text{eval}}$$

Since the conformal block functions $\mathcal{U}_T(x_1, \ldots, x_d)$ are defined by (3.16), it thus suffices to take $f = \mathcal{U}_{\hat{T}}(x_1, \ldots, x_{2N})$ and $T^t \in SYT^{(2^N)}$ to conclude the proof of Theorem 3.24.

In order to finish the induction step, we again proceed by induction, now on $k \in [0, s_i - 1]$. Suppose $g_k = P_k / \sqrt{Q_k}$ where P_k and Q_k are polynomials, and g_k satisfies the BPZ PDEs

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)} g_k = 0, & \text{for all } j \in [\![1, i-1]\!], \\ \mathcal{D}_{k+2}^{(q_i)} g_k = 0, \\ \mathcal{D}_2^{(j)} g_k = 0, & \text{for all } j \in [\![q_i + k + 1, 2N]\!] \end{cases}$$

This is obviously true for the base case k = 0, since $g_0 = g$. Next, suppose this is true for a given $k \in [[1, s_i - 1]]$. By (3.34), the function g_{k+1} is given by

$$g_{k+1} = \lim_{x_{q_i+k+1} \to x_{q_i}} \frac{g_k}{(x_{q_i+k+1} - x_{q_i})^{(k+1)/2}}.$$

Therefore, by Lemma 3.27 we have

$$g_k = (x_{q_i+k+1} - x_{q_i})^{(k+1)/2} \sum_{m \ge 0} u_m (x_{q_i+k+1} - x_{q_i})^k,$$

where the coefficients u_m are smooth for all m and, in particular, $g_{k+1} = u_0$ is of the form $P_{k+1}/\sqrt{Q_{k+1}}$ for some polynomials P_{k+1} and Q_{k+1} . Moreover, because

$$h_{1,k+3} - h_{1,k+2} - h_{1,2} = (k+1)/2,$$

we can apply Theorem 3.25 to deduce that g_{k+1} satisfies the BPZ PDEs

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)} g_{k+1} = 0, & \text{for all } j \in [\![1, i-1]\!], \\ \mathcal{D}_{k+3}^{(q_i)} g_{k+1} = 0, \\ \mathcal{D}_2^{(j)} g_{k+1} = 0, & \text{for all } j \in [\![q_i + k + 2, 2N]\!] \end{cases}$$

We then conclude by induction that g_{s_i-1} satisfies (3.35); thereby proving Theorem 3.24. \Box

4. FUSION ARGUMENT FOR BPZ PDES — PROOF OF THEOREM 3.25

To prove that the BPZ PDEs are satisfied at all valences, we follow a fusion argument bootstrapping from the already known lower order PDEs to the higher order ones. This approach, which seems to us to be the most amenable one to carry out systematically, utilizes a combination of tools from algebra and analytic geometry, and rigorously appeared in [Dub15a] for the case of irrational central charges. Since the case of present interest is that of unit central charge c = 1, we have to modify the argument to account for slightly more complicated representation structure of the Virasoro algebra. We present the gist of the proof in this section in a manner that does not assume prior knowledge of [Dub15a].

First of all, it is well-known and not too hard to check that the differential operators $\{\mathcal{L}_m^{(j)} \mid j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ in (3.24) satisfy the commutation relations of the Witt algebra. In fact, there is a natural action of *d* copies of the Witt algebra acting on the space of functions S_{ς} , one copy for each point. These actions do not commute with each other. An essential step

for the proof of Theorem 3.25 will be to extend such non-commuting actions of the Witt algebra to *commuting* actions of the *Virasoro algebra*. Such an extension was investigated in detail by Dubédat in [Dub15b, Dub15a] within the geometric framework of Virasoro uniformization [Kon87, BS88, Fri04, FK04]). In this approach, the Virasoro algebra acts on the space of sections of a suitable line bundle over an extended Teichmüller space. Whereas the Teichmüller space of a Riemann surface parametrizes its equivalence classes of complex structures, the extension we consider emerges from the fact that the Riemann surface is endowed with more data. More precisely, the extra data consists of a choice of a local coordinate for each marked point, and vanishing at the corresponding marked point. This viewpoint is closely related to Segal's sewing formalism [Seg88], which instead considers Riemann surfaces with parametrized boundary circles and their filling with analytic disks. Let us mention that whereas Dubédat's framework [Dub15b, Dub15a] holds for general bordered Riemann surfaces with one boundary component and with *d* marked points lying on the boundary. The (extended) Teichmüller space of such surfaces is simpler

The proof of Theorem 3.25 consists of three steps and utilizes various results of Dubédat [Dub15b, Dub15a]. The first step is to construct the extension of the solution space of a set of *d* BPZ differential equations giving rise to *d* non-commuting actions of the Witt algebra to the space of sections of a line bundle over the extended Teichmüller space giving rise to *d* commuting actions of the Virasoro algebra. We describe such an extension at the beginning of Section 4.3, and it essentially recalls the results of [Dub15b, Sect. 4]. Once such a space of sections is identified, the second step of the proof consists of choosing a local coordinate which encircles the marked points x_k and x_{k+1} and study what the two Virasoro representations at x_k and x_{k+1} become in the limit $|x_{k+1} - x_k| \rightarrow 0$. A crucial point here is to translate the problem, written in analytic-geometric form, into an equivalent algebraic problem, which then becomes amenable. As a matter of convenience for the readers, and because this is the key difference to [Dub15b, Dub15a], we will study the algebraic part of the problem first separately in Section 4.2 (see Lemma 4.1). Finally, once the algebraic problem is solved, it remains to utilize the extension the other way around to get back to solutions of higher order BPZ differential equations, as desired (see Section 4.4).

because its first homology group (and, therefore, their mapping class group) is trivial.

4.1. Verma modules over the Virasoro algebra and fusion. The Virasoro algebra Vir is the infinite-dimensional Lie algebra generated by the Virasoro modes $\{L_n \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ and the central element C,

$$\operatorname{Vir} = \mathbb{C}C \oplus \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}L_n,$$

with the following commutation relations:

$$[L_m, L_n] = (m-n)L_{m+n} + \delta_{m, -n} \frac{m^2(m-1)}{12}C, \qquad m, n \in \mathbb{Z},$$

[C, Vir] = 0, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ (4.1)

(where $\delta_{i,j}$ stands for the Kronecker delta function, equaling zero unless i = j). It has the triangular decomposition $\operatorname{Vir} = \operatorname{Vir}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \operatorname{Vir}^+$, where $\mathfrak{h} = \mathbb{C}C \oplus L_0$ and $\operatorname{Vir}^\pm = \bigoplus_{\pm n>0} \mathbb{C}L_n$. The universal enveloping algebra of the subalgebra Vir^- is

$$\mathcal{U}(\mathrm{Vir}^{-}) = \bigoplus_{\substack{0 < i_1 \leq \cdots \leq i_k \\ k \geq 0}} \mathbb{C}L_{-i_k} \cdots L_{-i_1},$$

and it has the "standard basis" $\{L_{-i_k} \cdots L_{-i_1} \mid 0 < i_1 \leq \cdots \leq i_k, k \geq 0\}$ by the Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt theorem. Let us also note that $\mathcal{U}(\text{Vir})$ is a \mathbb{Z} -graded algebra with *degree* $\deg(L_n) := -n$ and $\deg(C) := 0$. (See the textbook [IK11] for more background on Vir.)

Let V be a Vir-module. For $(c, h) \in \mathbb{C}^2$, a (c, h)-highest-weight vector $v_h^c \in V$ is an element satisfying $Cv_h^c = cv_h^c$, $L_0v_h^c = hv_h^c$, and $L_nv_h^c = 0$ for all n > 0. In this context, $c \in \mathbb{C}$ is called the *central charge* and $h \in \mathbb{C}$ is called the *weight* of v_h^c . The Verma module M_h^c is the $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ -graded Vir-module spanned by $\mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^-)v_h^c$,

$$M_h^c = \bigoplus_{\ell \ge 0} (M_h^c)_\ell, \quad \text{where} \quad (M_h^c)_\ell := \bigoplus_{\substack{0 < i_1 \le \dots \le i_k \\ i_1 + \dots + i_k = \ell \\ k > 0}} \mathbb{C}L_{-i_k} \cdots L_{-i_1} v_h^c.$$

Note that the dimension of $(M_h^c)_{\ell}$ is the number of partitions of ℓ . Moreover, it follows from the commutation relations (4.1) that each element $v \in (M_h^c)_{\ell}$ satisfies $L_0 v = (h + \ell)v$. Hence, we say that each $v \in (M_h^c)_{\ell}$ is a vector in M_h^c at *level* (or degree) ℓ .

A highest-weight vector $w_{\ell} \in M_h^c$ of level $\ell > 0$ is called a *singular vector*. If a non-zero singular vector can be found, then M_h^c is said to be *degenerate at level* $\ell > 0$, and in this case, w_{ℓ} generates a proper submodule of M_h^c isomorphic to $M_{h+\ell}^c$. Submodules of Verma modules were classified by B. Feĭgin and D. Fuchs [FF82, FF84, FF90]. (See, e.g., the book [IK11] for more background.) In particular, every submodule of M_h^c is generated by singular vectors. There is an exceptional set of parameters (c, h) for which M_h^c is not irreducible — the Kac table [Kac79, Kac80] — see (1.2) for an example with c = 1 (relevant to the present work). Since irreducible modules generally appear in conformal field theory applications, it is important to classify singular vectors of M_h^c , which was also done in [FF82, FF84, FF90].

Fix c = 1. From now on, we only consider Verma modules of type $M_h := M_h^1$, which possess a singular vector at level $\ell > 0$ if and only if h belongs to the Kac table (1.2):

$$h_{\ell} = h_{1,\ell} := \frac{1}{4} (\ell - 1)^2 \in \left\{ 0, \frac{1}{4}, 1, \frac{9}{4}, 4, \frac{25}{4}, 9, \frac{49}{4}, 16, \frac{81}{4}, \dots \right\}.$$
(4.2)

Let $v_{\ell} = v_{h_{\ell}}^{1}$ denote the highest-weight vector of $M_{\ell} := M_{h_{\ell}}$. Then, the singular vector at level ℓ has the form $w_{\ell} = \Delta_{\ell} v_{\ell}$, where $\Delta_{\ell} \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^{-})$ is some polynomial in the negative Virasoro generators. As the coefficient of L_{-1}^{ℓ} in Δ_{ℓ} cannot vanish [IK11, Sect. 5.2.1], we may normalize it to one. An explicit formula for the polynomial Δ_{ℓ} was found in [BSA88]¹²:

$$\Delta_{\ell} = \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} \sum_{\substack{i_1, \dots, i_k \ge 1\\i_1 + \dots + i_k = \ell}} \frac{(-1)^{\ell-k} (\ell-1)!^2}{\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} (\sum_{j=1}^l i_j) (\sum_{j=l+1}^k i_j)} L_{-i_1} \cdots L_{-i_k}$$
(4.3)

(see also [BFIZ91]). For instance, $\ell = 1, 2, 3$ the formula (4.3) yields

$$\begin{split} \Delta_1 &= L_{-1}, \\ \Delta_2 &= L_{-1}^2 - L_{-2}, \\ \Delta_3 &= L_{-1}^3 - 2(L_{-1}L_{-2} + L_{-2}L_{-1}) + 4L_{-3}. \end{split}$$

Observe that $L_0(\Delta_\ell v_\ell) = (h_\ell + \ell)(\Delta_\ell v_\ell) = h_{\ell+2}(\Delta_\ell v_\ell)$. In fact, the singular vector $\Delta_\ell v_\ell$ generates a submodule of M_ℓ isomorphic to $M_{\ell+2}$, which is the maximal proper submodule. Generally, when c = 1 there exists a one-dimensional infinite chain of submodules, where each arrow denotes the embedding of M_{j+2} into M_j giving its maximal proper submodule:

$$M_{\ell} \hookrightarrow M_{\ell+2} \hookrightarrow M_{\ell+4} \hookrightarrow \cdots$$
 (4.4)

¹²Note that in (4.3), the Virasoro generators L_{-i_i} are not ordered.

This structure of the Verma module M_{ℓ} is referred to as "chain" type (see [KR09, Figure 1], and [FF84, IK11] for details). Let us also remark that the submodule structure of Verma modules can be more intricate for other rational values of the central charge [FF83, IK11].

4.2. Fusion: the key algebraic lemma. Let *t* be a formal variable. For $\alpha, h \in \mathbb{R}$, consider the space $V_{\alpha,h} := \mathbb{C}[[t]][t^{-1}]t^{\alpha}$ of formal series with finitely many negative terms:

$$t^{lpha}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}a_{k}t^{k},\qquad ext{with}\quad ext{inf}\{k\colon a_{k}
eq 0\}>-\infty.$$

 $V_{\alpha,h}$ is a Vir-module with zero central charge c = 0, where each generator L_n acts by

$$L_n \mapsto L_n^0 := -t^{n+1}\partial_t - (n+1)ht^n.$$

(The role of the parameter α will become clear in the fusion procedure later, see Lemma 4.1, and also [DFMS97, Sect. 8.A].) The operators $\{L_n^0 \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ satisfy the commutation relations $[L_m^0, L_n^0] = (m - n)L_{m+n}^0$ of the *Witt algebra* (so $V_{\alpha,h}$ is also a Witt-module¹³). This action is motivated by CFT in the context of vertex algebras (cf. [Hua97, Kac98, FBZ04]): for a Riemann surface with marked points, to each marked point one associates a representation of the Witt algebra (morally, the Lie algebra of deformations of the complex structure, where the formal variable represents a local coordinate): a deformation near a given marked point is governed by the Witt-action on the corresponding module. (See also [Dub15b, Sect. 2.4].)

Next, let *W* be a Vir-module with central charge c = 1, whose Vir-action is simply denoted by L_n . Consider the space $W \otimes V_{\alpha,h}$ of formal series with coefficients in *W*:

$$t^{lpha}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}v_kt^k, \quad v_k\in W, \qquad ext{with} \quad \inf\{k\colon v_k
eq 0\}>-\infty.$$

Then, $W \otimes V_{\alpha,h}$ is a Vir-module with central charge c = 1, where each generator L_n acts by

$$L_n \mapsto \hat{L}_n(vt^{\alpha+k}) := (L_n v)t^{\alpha+k} - (\alpha+k+(n+1)h)vt^{\alpha+k+n}, \qquad n,k \in \mathbb{Z}, \ v \in W.$$
 (4.5)

Let $\hat{\Delta}_{\ell}$ be the BPZ operator in (4.3) with the substitutions $L_n \mapsto L_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

The reason to introduce the Vir-module $W \otimes V_{\alpha,h}$ is motivated by fusion in CFT. If $V_{\alpha,h}$ is the Virasoro (Witt) module associated to a given marked point x, the tensor product $W \otimes V_{\alpha,h}$ associates another Vir-module W at a nearby point y, and the action (4.5) can be thought of as a deformation at x also keeping track of y = x + t. Conversely, a deformation at y = x+t keeping track of x can be represented by operators of type (4.6, 4.7) in Lemma 4.1.

We are now ready to state the key algebraic result, crucial for the proof of Theorem 3.25. It is analogous to [Dub15a, Lem. 1] — however the proof slightly differs because the Virasoro submodule structure is more intricate for the present case of c = 1 than for irrational c. This is the main reason why we cannot use the results [Dub15b, Dub15a] of Dubédat directly.

The result is an algebraic formulation of the fusion of two points x and y = x + t on a Riemann surface (as $t \to 0$). We assume that the point x carries a Virasoro highestweight representation of weight $h_{\ell} := h_{1,\ell}$ and the point y carries a Virasoro highest-weight representation of weight $h_2 := h_{1,2}$. We expect from the CFT operator product expansion (fusion) of the corresponding two fields that " $\Phi_{1,\ell}(x) \times \Phi_{1,2}(y) = \Phi_{1,\ell-1}(x) + \Phi_{1,\ell+1}(x)$ " as $y \to x$. In the present work, we are interested in the subleading channel $\Phi_{1,\ell+1}$, which results in a conformal weight $h_{\ell+1} = h_{1,\ell+1}$ at higher level, needed for Theorem 3.25.

¹³Recall that the Virasoro algebra is a one-dimensional central extension of the Witt algebra.

38

Lemma 4.1. Fix $\ell \geq 2$. Using the notation from (4.2), let us denote $\tilde{h} := h_2$, $\hat{h} := h_\ell$, and $\alpha := h_{\ell+1} - \hat{h} - \tilde{h}$. Suppose $w = t^{\alpha} \sum_{k>0} v_k t^k$ is a highest-weight vector of weight \hat{h} such that

$$\hat{\Delta}_{\ell}w = 0$$
 and $\tilde{\Delta}_2w = 0$,

where $\tilde{\Delta}_2 := \tilde{L}_{-1}^2 - \tilde{L}_{-2}$ is defined in terms of

$$\tilde{L}_{-1} \coloneqq \partial_t \tag{4.6}$$

$$\tilde{L}_{-2} := -t^{-1}\partial_t + t^{-1}L_{-1} + \hat{h}t^{-2} + \sum_{k>0} t^k L_{-2-k}.$$
(4.7)

Then, the coefficient v_0 is a highest-weight vector in W of weight $h_{\ell+1}$ which satisfies $\Delta_{\ell+1}v_0 = 0$.

Proof. The proof consists of two steps. The first step is to check that $v_0 \in W$ is indeed a highest-weight vector of weight $h_{\ell+1}$. Indeed, we have $\hat{L}_0 w = \hat{h} w$ at degree α , which yields $L_0 v_0 = (\hat{h} + \tilde{h} + \alpha) v_0$. Moreover, we have $\hat{L}_n w = 0$ at degree α , for all n > 0, which yields $L_n v_0 = 0$, for all n > 0. This shows that v_0 is a highest-weight vector of weight $h_{\ell+1}$.

The second and last step of the proof is to find an element $P_k \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^-) \setminus \{0\}$ of degree $k < 2\ell + 4$ such that $P_k v_0 = 0$. To see why this is useful, consider the homomorphism $\phi: M_{\ell+1} \to W$ of Vir-modules which maps the highest-weight vector $v_{\ell+1} \in M_{\ell+1}$ to $v_0 \in W$. The first isomorphism theorem of modules implies that $\text{Ker}(\phi)$ is a proper submodule of $M_{\ell+1}$. Using the chain (4.4) of Verma modules, we obtain

$$M_{\ell+1} \hookrightarrow M_{\ell+3} \hookrightarrow M_{\ell+5} \hookrightarrow \cdots$$

where the image of $M_{\ell+3}$ is generated by $\Delta_{\ell+1}v_{\ell+1}$, the image of $M_{\ell+5}$ is generated by $\Delta_{\ell+3}(\Delta_{\ell+1}v_{\ell+1})$, etc. Now, if there exists $P_k \in \mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Vir}^-) \setminus \{0\}$ of degree k such that $P_kv_0 = 0$, then it follows that $P_kv_{\ell+1} \in \operatorname{Ker}(\phi)$. In particular, we have $\operatorname{Ker}(\phi) = M_{\ell+3}$ if $k < 2\ell + 4$, in which case we may conclude that $0 = \phi(\Delta_{\ell+1}v_{\ell+1}) = \Delta_{\ell+1}v_0$, as desired.

It now remains to construct such a P_k . To this end, consider first the assumption $\hat{\Delta}_2 w = 0$. Expanding by degree, we obtain

$$0 = \rho(\alpha)v_0
0 = \rho(\alpha + 1)v_1 - L_{-1}v_0
0 = \rho(\alpha + k)v_k - \sum_{j=1}^k L_{-j}v_{k-j},$$

where $\rho(a) = a^2 - \hat{h}$ has roots α and $h_{\ell-1} - \hat{h} - \tilde{h} < \alpha$. Thus, we have $\rho(\alpha + k) \neq 0$ for all k > 0, and there exist elements $R_0, R_1, \ldots \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^-)$ such that $v_k = R_k v_0$ for all k.

Next, consider the assumption $\hat{\Delta}_{\ell} w = 0$:

$$\hat{\Delta}_{\ell} \Big(t^{\alpha} \sum_{k \ge 0} t^k R_k v_0 \Big) = 0.$$

Write

$$\hat{\Delta}_{\ell} \Big(t^{\alpha} \sum_{k \ge 0} t^k R_k \Big) = t^{\alpha - \ell} \sum_{k \ge 0} t^k P_k,$$

for some polynomials $P_k \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^-)$ of degree k such that $P_k v_0 = 0$, for all $k \ge 0$. We first focus on the coefficients of L_{-1}^k of P_k decomposed in the standard basis. If $P, Q \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^-)$ are homogeneous and such that $P = aL_{-1}^k + \cdots$ and $Q = bL_{-1}^{k'} + \cdots$ in the standard basis,

then $PQ = abL_{-1}^{k+k'} + \cdots$ in the standard basis. (This holds because the commutation relations of Vir⁻ do not produce any monomial in L_{-1} .) We then see inductively that

$$R_k = \frac{1}{\varrho(1)\cdots\varrho(k)}L_{-1}^k + \cdots, \qquad k \ge 1,$$

with $\rho(k) = \rho(\alpha + k)$. Next, we write

$$\hat{\Delta}_{\ell} = \sum_{\substack{i+j+k=\ell\\i,j,k\geq 0}} b_{i,j,k} t^{-i} \partial_t^j L_{-1}^k + \cdots,$$

where the remainder does not contain any monomial in L_{-1} . Note that $b_{0,0,\ell} = 1$.

We now finally show that there exists an element $P_k \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^-) \setminus \{0\}$ of degree $d < 2\ell + 4$ such that $P_k v_0 = 0$. To this end, we assume towards a contradiction that no P_k has a nonzero monomial in L_{-1} for $k \leq 2\ell + 3$. Then, we have

$$t^{\alpha-\ell} \sum_{k\geq 0} t^k P_k = \hat{\Delta}_\ell \left(t^\alpha \sum_{k\geq 0} t^k R_k \right)$$
$$= \left(\sum_{\substack{i+j+k=\ell\\i,j,k\geq 0}} b_{i,j,k} t^{-i} \partial_t^j L_{-1}^k \right) \left(t^\alpha \sum_{l\geq 0} \frac{t^l L_{-1}^l}{\varrho(1)\cdots\varrho(l)} \right) + \cdots$$

For each $d \in [[0, \ell]]$, let Q_d be the polynomial of degree at most d (determined by explicit differentiation) such that

$$\left(\sum_{\substack{i+j=d\\i,j\geq 0}} b_{i,j,\ell-d} t^{-i} \partial_t^j\right) t^{\alpha+m+d} = Q_d(l) t^{\alpha+m}, \qquad m \ge -d.$$

Note that $Q_0 = b_{0,0,\ell} = 1$. Now, we have

$$t^{\alpha-\ell} \sum_{k\geq 0} t^k P_k = \sum_{d=0}^{\ell} \sum_{j\geq -d} \frac{Q_d(j)}{\varrho(1)\cdots \varrho(j+d)} t^{\alpha+j} L_{-1}^{\ell+j} + \cdots$$

By assumption, we know that the coefficients of monomials in L_{-1} of degree $\ell + j$ for $j \in [-\ell, \ell + 3]$ are vanishing. Thus, we obtain

$$0 = Q_{\ell}(-\ell),$$

$$0 = \frac{Q_{\ell}(-\ell+1)}{\varrho(1)} + Q_{\ell-1}(-\ell+1),$$

$$0 = \frac{Q_{\ell}(-\ell+2)}{\varrho(1)\varrho(2)} + \frac{Q_{\ell-1}(-\ell+2)}{\varrho(1)} + Q_{\ell-2}(-\ell+2),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$0 = \frac{Q_{\ell}(0)}{\varrho(1)\cdots\varrho(\ell)} + \frac{Q_{\ell-1}(0)}{\varrho(1)\cdots\varrho(\ell-1)} + \cdots + Q_{0}(0),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$0 = \frac{Q_{\ell}(\ell+3)}{\varrho(1)\cdots\varrho(2\ell+3)} + \frac{Q_{\ell-1}(\ell+3)}{\varrho(1)\cdots\varrho(2\ell+2)} + \cdots + \frac{Q_{0}(\ell+3)}{\varrho(1)\cdots\varrho(\ell+3)}$$

Multiplying the *i*-th equation by $\rho(1) \cdots \rho(i-1)$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} 0 &= Q_\ell(-\ell), \\ 0 &= Q_\ell(-\ell+1) + Q_{\ell-1}(-\ell+1)\varrho(1), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= Q_{\ell}(-\ell+2) + Q_{\ell-1}(-\ell+2)\varrho(2) + Q_{\ell-2}(-\ell+2)\varrho(1)\varrho(2), \\ &\vdots \\ 0 &= Q_{\ell}(0) + Q_{\ell-1}(0)\varrho(\ell) + \cdots + Q_{0}(0)\varrho(1) \cdots \varrho(\ell), \\ &\vdots \\ 0 &= Q_{\ell}(\ell+3) + Q_{\ell-1}(\ell+3)\varrho(2\ell+3) + \cdots + Q_{0}(\ell+3)\varrho(\ell+4) \cdots \varrho(2\ell+3). \end{aligned}$$

Since $\varrho(0) = 0$, we find that for all $m \in [-\ell, \ell + 3]$

$$0 = Q_{\ell}(m) + Q_{\ell-1}(m)\varrho(\ell+m) + \dots + Q_0(m)\varrho(m+1)\cdots \varrho(\ell+m) =: O(m).$$

On the one hand, since $Q_0 = 1$, the last term is non-vanishing and of degree 2ℓ , while all the other terms are of degree at most $2\ell - 1$. Thus, O is not the zero polynomial. On the other hand, since O is a polynomial of degree at most 2ℓ with $2\ell + 4$ zeroes, we infer that $O \equiv 0$. This is a contradiction. Hence, we conclude that there exists an element $P_k \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Vir}^-) \setminus \{0\}$ of degree $d < 2\ell + 4$ such that $P_k v_0 = 0$. This concludes the proof of Lemma 4.1.

4.3. Virasoro action on the determinant line bundle. Next, we shall describe the geometric framework for the conformal block functions, viewed as sections of a line bundle. It turns out that the space S_{ς} of conformal block functions of Proposition 3.14 carries noncommuting actions of the Witt algebra at each variable $x_i \in \mathbb{R} = \partial \mathbb{H}$, for $i \in [1, d]$. This is a manifestation of the (infinitesimal) conformal symmetry in CFT. Our aim is to construct a space which carries *commuting* actions of the Virasoro algebra, which leads to a structure underlying the BPZ partial differential equations. For this purpose, we first have to pass from the Witt algebra action to an action of its central extension (viz. the Virasoro algebra), on a space of sections of a one-dimensional line bundle ("determinant line bundle") over a Teichmüller space involving marked boundary points (cf. the variables (x_1, \ldots, x_d)).

In the constructions and statements below, we mostly follow [Dub15b, Sect. 2 & 4].

4.3.1. Extended Teichmüller space and determinant lines. Let *S* be a simply-connected, compact Riemann surface with a single boundary component ∂S and marked points $x_i \in \partial S$, for $i \in [\![1,d]\!]$. We endow *S* with the following additional data. Let *z* be a local coordinate at $x \in \partial S$. A *k*-jet at *x* is an element of $\mathbb{R}[z]/(z^{k+1}\mathbb{R}[z])$ with a first order zero: for each

$$\eta = \sum_{i>1} \eta_i z^i \in \mathbb{R}[z], \qquad \eta_1 > 0,$$

we denote the associated k-jet as $[\eta]_k = \sum_{i=1}^k \eta_i z^i$. For each $\mathbf{k} = (k_1, \ldots, k_d)$, we define \mathcal{T}_k to be the space of equivalence classes of surfaces S as above with a k_i -jet at k_i at x_i , for $i \in [\![1,d]\!]$, where each equivalence class consists of all marked surfaces related by conformal isomorphisms sending marked points to marked points and k_i -jets to k_i -jets.

For each surface S, let Adm(S) be the set of conformal metrics on S which near the boundary are pushforwards of the flat metric from the cylinder, so that in particular the boundary ∂S is a geodesic. For two such conformally equivalent metrics $g \in Adm(S)$ and $e^{2\sigma}g \in Adm(S)$, with Weyl factor $\sigma \in C^{\infty}(S, \mathbb{R})$, we define the *conformal anomaly*

$$S_L^0(\sigma,g) := \frac{1}{12\pi} \iint_S \left(\frac{1}{2} |\nabla_g \sigma|_g^2 + R_g \sigma \right) \operatorname{vol}_g,$$

where ∇_g , R_g , and vol_g are respectively the divergence, Gaussian curvature, and volume form on S in the metric g. We then define the (real) *determinant line* associated to Sas the one-dimensional \mathbb{R} -vector space $\operatorname{Det}_{\mathbb{R}}(S) := (\mathbb{R} \times \operatorname{Adm}(S))/_{\sim}$ consisting of pairs (r,g) = r[g], where $r \in \mathbb{R}$ and $g \in \text{Adm}(S)$, subject to the equivalence relation "~" given by $[g] = e^{-S_L^0(\sigma,g)}[e^{2\sigma}g]$ in terms of the anomaly. (See also [Fri04, KS07, Dub15b, MP24].)

We view $\text{Det} := {\text{Det}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{H})}$ as the determinant line "bundle" over the (genus zero, trivial) Teichmüller space $\mathcal{T} = {\mathbb{H}}$ of simply-connected, compact Riemann surfaces with a single boundary component without any marked points (that can be represented by the upper half-plane $S = \mathbb{H}$, say). We then define the *determinant line bundle* Det_k over \mathcal{T}_k as the pull-back of Det under the projection forgetting marked points and jets. In the spirit of the infinitesimal conformal symmetry in CFT [DFMS97, Sch08] and Virasoro uniformization [Kon87, BS88], as explained in detail in [Dub15b, Sect. 2.4.4], there exists an action of the Witt algebra as (local) differential and multiplication operators $L_n^0 \mapsto -z^{n+1}\partial_z$ such that the negative generators send smooth functions on \mathcal{T}_k to smooth functions on $\mathcal{T}_{k'}$ for some $k'_i \geq k_i$ for all *i*. To make the action on this tower $(\mathcal{T}_k)_k$ closed, one considers the *projective limit* given by the smooth projections $\mathcal{T}_{k'} \to \mathcal{T}_k$, consisting of truncations of the jets for $k'_i \geq k_i$ (see [Dub15b, Sect. 2.4.4] for a detailed account),

$$\mathcal{T}_{\infty} := \lim \mathcal{T}_{k}$$

Elements of \mathcal{T}_{∞} may be thought of as equivalence classes of surfaces S with marked points as above, but with *formal coordinates*¹⁴ at each marked point instead of k-jets. The result in [Dub15b, Thm. 4] shows that the space $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty}, \text{Det}_{\infty})$ of sections of the pull-back bundle Det_{∞} over \mathcal{T}_{∞} obtained from the projective limit construction carries a representation of *d commuting copies of the Virasoro algebra* with central charge c = 1: one for each marked point $x_1, \ldots, x_d \in \partial S$. As the details of this construction are irrelevant for the purposes of understanding the present work, we refer the reader to [Dub15b, Dub15a] for more details, and only highlight the key ingredients for proving Theorem 3.25.

4.3.2. Conformal block functions as sections of the determinant line bundle. After choosing a reference section μ_{ζ} of the bundle Det_{∞} (which can, for example, be constructed from the zeta-regularized determinant of the Laplacian [Dub15b, Sect. 3]), we shall denote sections in $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty}, \text{Det}_{\infty})$ by $f\mu_{\zeta}$, where $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty})$. The functions f will play the role of the correlation functions in \mathcal{S}_{ς} . Indeed, to any given smooth function $F: \mathfrak{X}_d \to \mathbb{C}$, we associate a smooth function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty})$ as (the lift¹⁵ of the one) described in Equation (4.9) below.

We will use a convenient choice of smooth coordinates on \mathcal{T}_k , associated to the choice of reference surface $S = \mathbb{H}$ of \mathcal{T} with coordinates z around 0 and -1/z around ∞ . Thanks to the action of the Möbius group, we may also choose two of the marked points to be $x_1 = 0$ and $x_{d+1} = \infty$, and we may choose the first order of the jet at ∞ to equal one: thus, for one and two marked points, respectively, we have

$$[(\mathbb{H}; 0; [\eta^{(0)}]_k)] \in \mathcal{T}_k, \qquad [\eta^{(0)}]_k := \sum_{i=1}^k \eta_i^{(0)} z^i, \quad \eta_i^{(0)} \in \mathbb{R},$$
$$(\mathbb{H}; 0, \infty; [\eta^{(0)}]_k, [\eta^{(\infty)}]_l)] \in \mathcal{T}_{k,l}, \qquad [\eta^{(\infty)}]_l := -\frac{1}{z} + \sum_{i=2}^l (-1)^i \eta_i^{(\infty)} z^{-i}, \quad \eta_i^{(\infty)} \in \mathbb{R},$$

and for at least three marked points, we obtain the representatives

$$[(\mathbb{H}; 0, x_2, \dots, x_d, \infty; [\eta^{(0)}]_{k_1}, [\eta^{(x_2)}]_{k_2}, \dots, [\eta^{(x_d)}]_{k_d}, [\eta^{(\infty)}]_{k_{d+1}})] \in \mathcal{T}_{k_1, \dots, k_{d+1}},$$

¹⁴The key difference is that is when a local coordinate z is given, a formal coordinate is an element of $z\mathbb{R}[[z]]$. ¹⁵Abusing notation, we identify $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{(1,...,1)})$ with its pullback under the projection map, $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty})$.

$$[\eta^{(x_j)}]_k := \sum_{i=1}^k \eta_i^{(x_j)} (z - x_j)^i, \quad \eta_i^{(x_j)} \in \mathbb{R}, \ j \in [\![2,d]\!]$$

Thus, the following collection provides a set of smooth coordinates on \mathcal{T}_k and hence on \mathcal{T}_∞ :

$$(x_2, \dots, x_d; \eta_1^{(0)}, \dots, \eta_{k_1}^{(0)}; \eta_1^{(x_2)}, \dots, \eta_{k_2}^{(x_2)}; \dots; \eta_1^{(x_d)}, \dots, \eta_{k_d}^{(x_d)}; \dots; \eta_2^{(\infty)}, \dots, \eta_{k_{d+1}}^{(\infty)}).$$
(4.8)

In particular, given any smooth function $F: \mathfrak{X}_d \to \mathbb{C}$, taking $k_1 = k_2 = \cdots = k_d = k_{d+1} = 1$,

$$f[(\mathbb{H}; 0, x_2, \dots, x_d, \infty; [\eta^{(0)}]_1, [\eta^{(x_2)}]_1, \dots, [\eta^{(x_d)}]_1, [\eta^{(\infty)}]_1)]$$

$$:= (\eta_1^{(0)})^{-h_{s_1+1}} \prod_{j=2}^d (\eta_1^{(x_j)})^{-h_{s_j+1}} \times F(0, x_2, \dots, x_d)$$
(4.9)

where $(s_1, \ldots, s_d) = \varsigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$, defines a smooth function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{(1,1,\ldots,1)})$, which lifts to a smooth function in $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty})$. By virtue of [Dub15b, Thm. 4] there are d + 1 commuting copies of the Virasoro algebra acting on the section $f\mu_{\zeta} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty}, \text{Det}_{\infty})$, with one copy corresponding to each marked point $x_1 = 0, x_2, \ldots, x_d, \infty$. We denote the generators in the Vir-action associated to the marked point x_j by $L_n^{(x_j)}$. By construction, this action has central charge c = 1. Moreover, these representations are in fact highest-weight modules with highest-weight vectors $f\mu_{\zeta}$: for each $j \in [\![1,d]\!]$, we have

$$L_0^{(x_j)}(f\mu_{\zeta}) = h_{s_j+1}(f\mu_{\zeta}),$$

$$L_n^{(x_j)}(f\mu_{\zeta}) = 0, \quad \text{for all } n > 0.$$
(4.10)

The representation at ∞ has weight zero: $L_n^{(\infty)}(f\mu_{\zeta}) = 0$ for all $n \ge 0$. Moreover, we have

$$\Delta_{\ell}^{(x_j)} = \mathcal{D}_{\ell}^{(x_j)} + D_{\ell}^{(x_j)}$$

where $\Delta_{\ell}^{(x_j)}$ is the partial differential operator (4.3) involving $L_i^{(x_j)}$ for all *i*, and $\mathcal{D}_{\ell}^{(x_j)} = \mathcal{D}_{\ell}^{(j)}$ is defined in (3.25), and $D_{\ell}^{(x_j)}$ is a differential operator which vanishes if $\eta_i^{(x_j)} = 0$ for all i > 1. This shows that, if *F* satisfies the BPZ equations (3.26) at each marked point, then

$$\Delta_{s_j+1}^{(x_j)}(f\mu_{\zeta}) = 0, \quad \text{for all } j \in [\![1,d]\!].$$
(4.11)

Conversely, if $f\mu_{\zeta}$ satisfies the "null-vector" equations (4.11), then *F* satisfies the BPZ PDEs (3.26) (see [Dub15b, Sect. 4]). In conclusion, we have related solutions *F* to the BPZ PDEs (3.26) to solutions $f\mu_{\zeta}$ to Equations (4.11) via the correspondence of Equation (4.9).

4.4. Fusion of BPZ PDEs — proof of Theorem 3.25.

Theorem 3.25. Fix $d \ge 2$. Fix $\varsigma = (s_1, \ldots, s_d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^d$ such that $s_k = \ell - 1$ and $s_{k+1} = 1$ for some $k \in [\![1, \ldots, d-1]\!]$. Also, let $F : \mathfrak{X}_d \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth function satisfying the BPZ PDEs

$$\mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)}F(x_1,\ldots,x_d) = 0, \quad \text{for all } j \in [\![1,d]\!].$$
 (3.26)

Finally, using the indices $h_{s+1} := h_{1,s+1}$ in the Kac table (1.2), assume that when $|x_{k+1} - x_k| > 0$ is small enough, the following (convergent) expansion holds:

$$F(x_1, \dots, x_d) = (x_{k+1} - x_k)^{h_{\ell+1} - h_\ell} \sum_{i \ge 0} f_i(\dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots) (x_{k+1} - x_k)^i, \qquad (3.27)$$

where $f_i(x_1, \ldots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \ldots, x_d)$ are smooth functions on \mathfrak{X}_{d-1} . Then, f_0 satisfies the BPZ PDEs

$$\mathcal{D}_{s_j+1}^{(j)} f_0(x_1, \dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots, x_d) = 0, \qquad j \in [\![1, d]\!], \ j \neq k, k+1,$$
(3.28)

$$\mathcal{D}_{\ell+1}^{(k)} f_0(x_1, \dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots, x_d) = 0.$$
(3.29)

Remark 4.2. Our Theorem 3.25 as well as its proof are very closely related to [Dub15a, Thm. 15]. However, [Dub15a, Thm. 15] only applies to irrational central charges, because of a certain algebraic result required to carry out the argument [Dub15a, Lem. 1]. The reason for this is that the structure of highest-weight modules of the Virasoro algebra is much more intricate when the central charge is rational. Our Lemma 4.1 is an extension of [Dub15a, Lem. 1] to the case of unit central charge. On the other hand, [Dub15a, Lem. 12, 13, 14], which are used for building the bridge between analytic geometry and algebra, do apply to any central charge. Therefore, we can use all of them for the proof of Theorem 3.25.

Proof of Theorem 3.25. From *F* as in the statement, we construct $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{(1,1,\dots,1)})$ as in (4.9):

$$f[(\mathbb{H}; 0, x_2, \dots, x_d, \infty; [\eta^{(0)}]_1, [\eta^{(x_2)}]_1, \dots, [\eta^{(x_d)}]_1, [\eta^{(\infty)}]_1)]$$

$$\coloneqq (\eta_1^{(0)})^{-h_{s_1+1}} (\eta_1^{(x_k)})^{-h_\ell} (\eta_1^{(x_{k+1})})^{-h_2} \prod_{\substack{2 \le j \le d \\ j \ne k, k+1}} (\eta_1^{(x_j)})^{-h_{s_j+1}} \times F(0, x_2, \dots, x_d),$$

where in the coordinates (4.8) on $\mathcal{T}_{(1,1,\dots,1)}$, we have the 1-jets $[\eta^{(\infty)}]_1 = -1/z$ and

$$\begin{split} & [\eta^{(0)}]_1 = \eta_1^{(0)} z, \quad \eta_1^{(0)} \in \mathbb{R}, \\ & [\eta^{(x_j)}]_1 = \eta_1^{(x_j)} (z - x_j), \quad \eta_1^{(x_j)} \in \mathbb{R}, \ j \in [\![2,d]\!]. \end{split}$$

The first step of the proof is to derive an asymptotic expansion for the section $f\mu_{\zeta}$ as $x_{k+1} \rightarrow x_k$, starting from the assumed asymptotic expansion (3.27) of *F*. To this end, note that we have $\eta^{(x_{k+1})} = \eta^{(x_k)} - \eta^{(x_k)}(x_{k+1})$, which implies that

$$\sum_{j\geq 1} \eta_j^{(x_{k+1})} (z - x_{k+1})^j = \sum_{j\geq 1} \eta_j^{(x_k)} \big((z - x_k)^j - (x_{k+1} - x_k)^j) \big).$$

Taking the derivative with respect to *z* and evaluating at $z = x_{k+1}$ yields

$$\eta_1^{(x_{k+1})} = \sum_{j \ge 1} j \, \eta_j^{(x_k)} (x_{k+1} - x_k)^{j-1}.$$

Hence, using the expansion (3.27), we infer that

$$f[(\mathbb{H}; 0, x_2, \dots, x_d, \infty; [\eta^{(0)}]_1, \dots, [\eta^{(x_k)}]_1, [\eta^{(x_k)} - \eta^{(x_k)}(x_{k+1})]_1, [\eta^{(x_{k+2})}]_1, \dots, [\eta^{(\infty)}]_1)]$$

$$:= (\eta_1^{(0)})^{-h_{s_1+1}} (\eta_1^{(x_k)})^{-h_\ell} \prod_{\substack{2 \le j \le d \\ j \ne k, k+1}} (\eta_1^{(x_j)})^{-h_{s_j+1}} \times \left(\eta_1^{(x_k)} + \sum_{j \ge 2} j \eta_j^{(x_k)}(x_{k+1} - x_k)^{j-1}\right)^{-h_2}$$

$$\times (x_{k+1} - x_k)^{h_{\ell+1} - h_\ell - h_2} \sum_{i \ge 0} f_i(\dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots) (x_{k+1} - x_k)^i.$$

It is crucial to note that, while *k*-jets use *formal* local coordinates, with possibly zero as radius of convergence, in order to carry out the fusion argument for the PDEs it is necessary to establish a *true series expansion* in genuine local coordinates with a *positive* radius of convergence. This we obtain for our *explicit* functions from Lemma 3.27, which gives (3.27).

The Lagrange inversion theorem now allows us to write

$$x_{k+1} - x_k = \sum_{i \ge 1} g_i (\eta^{(x_k)}(x_{k+1}) - \eta^{(x_k)}(x_k))^i,$$

where g_i is a rational function of $\{x_k, \eta_1^{(x_k)}, \ldots, \eta_{n_i}^{(x_k)}\}$ where n_i is a finite integer for all $i \ge 1$ and, in particular, $g_1 = 1/\eta_1^{(x_k)}$. This justifies that we indeed have the expansion

$$f[(\mathbb{H}; 0, x_2, \dots, x_d, \infty; [\eta^{(0)}]_1, \dots, [\eta^{(x_k)}]_1, [\eta^{(x_k)} - \eta^{(x_k)}(x_{k+1})]_1, [\eta^{(x_{k+2})}]_1, \dots, [\eta^{(\infty)}]_1)]$$

$$\coloneqq \left(\eta^{(x_k)}(x_{k+1}) - \eta^{(x_k)}(x_k)\right)^{h_{\ell+1} - h_\ell - h_2} \sum_{i \ge 0} \tilde{f}_i \left(\eta^{(x_k)}(x_{k+1}) - \eta^{(x_k)}(x_k)\right)^i,$$
(4.12)

where \tilde{f}_i is a smooth function of $\{x_2, \ldots, x_d, \infty\}$ as well as of $\{\eta_1^{(x_j)} \mid j \neq k, k+1\}$ and of $\{\eta_1^{(x_k)}, \ldots, \eta_{m_i}^{(x_k)}\}$ for some finite integer m_i . Note also that the coefficients \tilde{f}_i are smooth because they are products of compositions of smooth functions. Moreover, $m_0 = 1$ and

$$\tilde{f}_0 = (\eta_1^{(0)})^{-h_{s_1+1}} (\eta_1^{(x_k)})^{-h_{\ell+1}} \prod_{\substack{2 \le j \le d \\ j \ne k, k+1}} (\eta_1^{(x_j)})^{-h_{s_j+1}} \times f_0(x_1, \dots, x_k, x_{k+2}, \dots, x_d).$$
(4.13)

Therefore, $f_0\mu_{\zeta}$ is a Vir-highest-weight vector as in (4.10) with weight h_{s_j+1} at x_j for $j \neq k, k+1$, and weight $h_{\ell+1}$ at x_k . The other coefficients give smooth sections $\tilde{f}_i\mu_{\zeta}$.

The final step of the proof is to connect this analytic setting to the algebraic Lemma 4.1. Consider the space $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{T}_{\infty}, \text{Det}_{\infty}) \otimes V_{\alpha,h_2}$ of formal series as in Section 4.2, and set

$$\mathcal{Z} := t^{\alpha} \sum_{i \ge 0} (\tilde{f}_i \mu_{\zeta}) t^i, \qquad \alpha := h_{\ell+1} - h_{\ell} - h_2.$$

We now express the action of the d + 1 Vir-copies on \mathcal{Z} in terms of the action of the dVir-copies on $f\mu_{\zeta}$. Specifically, [Dub15a, Lem. 12] identifies the Vir-action at x_k with the action of \hat{L}_n in (4.5); [Dub15a, Lem. 13] identifies the action of the generators $L_{-1}^{(x_{k+1})}$ and $L_{-2}^{(x_{k+1})}$ with \tilde{L}_{-1} (4.6) and \tilde{L}_{-2} (4.7), respectively; and [Dub15a, Lem. 14] relates the action of $L_n^{(x_j)}$ on $f\mu_{\zeta}$ associated to the "spectator points" x_j , with $j \neq k, k+1$, to the action of $L_n^{(x_j)}$ on \mathcal{Z} . Also, by construction, the section $f\mu_{\zeta}$ is Vir-highest-weight as in (4.10) with weight h_{s_j+1} at x_j for $j \neq k, k+1$, weight h_{ℓ} at x_k , and weight h_2 at x_{k+1} . Since by assumption F in (4.9) satisfies the corresponding BPZ equations at those points, $f\mu_{\zeta}$ satisfies (4.11):

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{s_j+1}^{(x_j)} (f\mu_{\zeta}) = 0, & j \neq k, k+1, \\ \Delta_{\ell}^{(x_k)} (f\mu_{\zeta}) = 0, \\ \Delta_2^{(x_{k+1})} (f\mu_{\zeta}) = 0. \end{cases}$$

This implies in particular that $\hat{\Delta}_{\ell}(\mathcal{Z}) = 0$ and $\tilde{\Delta}_{2}(\mathcal{Z}) = 0$. To finish the proof, we just need to apply Lemma 4.1 to infer that \tilde{f}_{0} in (4.13) satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{s_j+1}^{(x_j)} (\tilde{f}_0 \mu_{\zeta}) = 0, \qquad j \neq k, k+1, \\ \Delta_{\ell+1}^{(x_k)} (\tilde{f}_0 \mu_{\zeta}) = 0. \end{cases}$$

From this, we conclude that f_0 satisfies the asserted BPZ equations (3.28, 3.29).

Appendix A. Expressions for Schur Polynomials

In this appendix, we recall the Schur polynomials, used in particular for the proof of Proposition 2.22. Recall first that we consider sets of variables $x_{q_k}, \ldots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}$, where

$$q_k := 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} s_j, \qquad k \in [\![1,d]\!].$$

In particular, we have $q_{k+1} - q_k = s_k$. Moreover, let $\lambda = (\lambda_i)_{i=1}^{s_k}$ be a partition. The *Schur* polynomial associated with the partition λ admits the bialternant formula

$$S_{\lambda}(x_{q_k}, \dots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}) = \frac{\det \left(x_i^{\lambda_j + s_k - j}\right)_{1 \le i, j \le s_k}}{\prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_i - x_j)}$$

Utilizing the Leibniz formula for the determinant, this can also be written as

$$S_{\lambda}(x_{q_k}, \dots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}) = \frac{\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{s_k}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \prod_{i=q_k}^{q_{k+1}-1} x_{\sigma(i)}^{\lambda_i + s_k - i}}{\prod_{q_k \le i < j < q_{k+1}} (x_i - x_j)}.$$
 (A.1)

Equivalently, the Schur polynomial also admits the following combinatorial formula:

$$S_{\lambda}(x_{q_k}, \dots, x_{q_{k+1}-1}) = \sum_{T \in \text{CSYT}_{(1,2,\dots,s_k)}^{(\lambda)}} x_{q_k}^{t_{q_k}} \cdots x_{q_{k+1}-1}^{t_{q_{k+1}-1}},$$
(A.2)

where each t_i is the number of occurences of the number i in the tableau $T \in \text{CSYT}_{(1,2,\ldots,s_k)}^{(\lambda)}$. In particular, the evaluation of (A.2) at $x_i = x_k$ for all $i \in [\![q_k, q_{k+1} - 1]\!]$ leads to

$$S_{\lambda}(x_k, \dots, x_k) = S_{\lambda}(1, \dots, 1) x_k^{|\lambda|}, \tag{A.3}$$

where $S_{\lambda}(1, ..., 1)$ represents the number $|\text{CSYT}_{(1,2,...,s_k)}^{(\lambda)}|$ of column-strict Young tableaux of shape λ with and content $(1, 2, ..., s_k)$,

$$S_{\lambda}(1,\ldots,1) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le s_k} \frac{\lambda_i - \lambda_j + j - i}{j - i}.$$

References

- [AFLT11] Vasyl A. Alba, Vladimir A. Fateev, Alexei V. Litvinov, and Grigory M. Tarnopolskiy. On combinatorial expansion of the conformal blocks arising from AGT conjecture. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 98(1):33–64, 2011.
- [AGT10] Luis F. Alday, Davide Gaiotto, and Yuji Tachikawa. Liouville correlation functions from fourdimensional gauge theories. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 91:167–197, 2010.
- [ALS20] Juhan Aru, Titus Lupu, and Avelio Sepúlveda. The first passage sets of the 2D Gaussian free field: convergence and isomorphism. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 375(3):1885–1929, 2020.
- [BBK05] Michel Bauer, Denis Bernard, and Kalle Kytölä. Multiple Schramm-Loewner evolutions and statistical mechanics martingales. J. Stat. Phys., 120(5-6):1125–1163, 2005.
- [BF14] Mikhail A. Bershtein and Omar Foda. AGT, Burge pairs and minimal models. *JHEP*, 2014(177):1–26, 2014.
- [BFIZ91] Michel Bauer, Philippe Di Francesco, Claude Itzykson, and Jean-Bernard Zuber. Singular vectors of the Virasoro algebra. *Phys. Lett. B*, 260(3-4):323–326, 1991.
- [BPZ84a] Alexander A. Belavin, Alexander M. Polyakov, and Alexander B. Zamolodchikov. Infinite conformal symmetry in two-dimensional quantum field theory. *Nucl. Phys. B*, 241(2):333–380, 1984.
- [BPZ84b] Alexander A. Belavin, Alexander M. Polyakov, and Alexander B. Zamolodchikov. Infinite conformal symmetry of critical fluctuations in two dimensions. J. Stat. Phys., 34(5-6):763–774, 1984.
- [BS88] Alexander A. Beilinson and Vadim V. Schechtman. Determinant bundles and Virasoro algebra. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 118:651–701, 1988.
- [BSA88] Louis Benoît and Yvan Saint-Aubin. Degenerate conformal field theories and explicit expressions for some null vectors. *Phys. Lett. B*, 215(3):517–522, 1988.
- [Car84] John L. Cardy. Conformal invariance and surface critical behavior. *Nucl. Phys. B*, 240(4):514–532, 1984.
- [Car92] John L. Cardy. Critical percolation in finite geometries. J. Phys. A, 25(4):L201–206, 1992.
- [Cd23] Nicolas Crampé and Loïc Poulain d'Andecy. Fused braids and centralisers of tensor representations of $U_q(\mathfrak{gl}_n)$. Algebr. Represent. Theory, 26(3):901–955, 2023.
- [DFMS97] Philippe Di Francesco, Pierre Mathieu, and David Sénéchal. Conformal field theory. Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997.
- [DJ89] Richard Dipper and Gordon James. The q-Schur algebra. Proc. London Math. Soc., 59(1):23–50, 1989.

[Dub06] Julien Dubédat. Euler integrals for commuting SLEs. J. Stat. Phys., 123(6):1183–1218, 2006.

- [Dub15a] Julien Dubédat. SLE and Virasoro representations: fusion. Comm. Math. Phys., 336(2):761-809, 2015.
- [Dub15b] Julien Dubédat. SLE and Virasoro representations: localization. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 336(2):695–760, 2015.
- [FBZ04] Igor B. Frenkel and Devid Ben-Zvi. *Vertex Algebras and Algebraic Curves*, volume 88 of *Mathematical Surveys and Monographs*. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2 edition, 2004.
- [FF82] Boris L. Feĭgin and Dmitry B. Fuchs. Invariant skew-symmetric differential operators on the line and Verma modules over the Virasoro algebra. *Funct. Anal. Appl.*, 16(2):114–126, 1982.
- [FF83] Boris L. Feĭgin and Dmitry B. Fuchs. Verma modules over the Virasoro algebra. *Funktsional Anal. i Prilozhen*, 17(3):91–92, 1983.
- [FF84] Boris L. Feĭgin and Dmitry B. Fuchs. Verma modules over the Virasoro algebra. In Topology (Leningrad 1982), volume 1060 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 230–245, Berlin Heidelberg, 1984. Springer-Verlag.
- [FF90] Boris L. Feigin and Dmitry B. Fuchs. Representations of the Virasoro algebra. In *Representation of Lie Groups and Related Topics*, volume 7 of *Advanced Studies in Contemporary Mathematics*, pages 465–554. Gordon and Breach, New York, 1990.
- [FH04] William Fulton and Joe Harris. *Representation theory*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, 2004.
- [FK04] Roland Friedrich and Jussi Kalkkinen. On conformal field theory and stochastic Loewner evolution. *Nucl. Phys. B*, 687(3):279–302, 2004.
- [FK15a] Steven M. Flores and Peter Kleban. A solution space for a system of null-state partial differential equations 1. Comm. Math. Phys., 333(1):389–434, 2015.
- [FK15b] Steven M. Flores and Peter Kleban. A solution space for a system of null-state partial differential equations 2. Comm. Math. Phys., 333(1):435–481, 2015.
- [Fom01] Sergey Fomin. Loop-erased walks and total positivity. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 353(9):3363–3583, 2001.
- [FP18a] Steven M. Flores and Eveliina Peltola. Generators, projectors, and the Jones-Wenzl algebra. Preprint in arXiv:1811.12364, 2018.
- [FP18b] Steven M. Flores and Eveliina Peltola. Standard modules, radicals, and the valenced Temperley-Lieb algebra. Preprint in arXiv:1801.10003, 2018.
- [FP20] Steven M. Flores and Eveliina Peltola. Higher spin quantum and classical Schur-Weyl duality for s1(2). Preprint in arXiv:2008.06038, 2020.
- [FPW24] Yu Feng, Eveliina Peltola, and Hao Wu. Connection probabilities of multiple FK-Ising interfaces. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 189(1-2):281–367, 2024.
- [Fri04] Roland Friedrich. On connections of conformal field theory and stochastic Loewner evolution. Preprint in arXiv:math-ph/0410029, 2004.
- [FSKZ17] Steven M. Flores, Jacob J. H. Simmons, Peter Kleban, and Robert M. Ziff. A formula for crossing probabilities of critical systems inside polygons. J. Phys. A, 50(6):064005, 2017.
- [Ful12] William Fulton. *Young tableaux: With applications to representation theory and geometry*. Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- [FYH⁺85] Peter Freyd, David Yetter, Jim Hoste, William B. R. Lickorish, Kenneth C. Millett, and Adrian Ocneanu. A new polynomial invariant of knots and links. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 12(2):239–246, 1985.
- [GKR23] Colin Guillarmou, Antti Kupiainen, and Rémi Rhodes. Compactified imaginary Liouville theory. Preprint in arXiv:2310.18226, 2023.
- [HLV20] R. Michael Howe, Hengzhou Liu and Michael Vaughan. A proof of the equivalence between the polytabloid bases and Specht polynomials for irreducible representations of the symmetric group. Ball State Undergraduate Mathematics Exchange, 14(1):25–33, 2020. https://digitalresearch.bsu.edu/mathexchange/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/.
- [Hua97] Yi-Zhi Huang. Two-Dimensional Conformal Geometry and Vertex Operator Algebras, volume 148 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Basel, 1997.
- [IK11] Kenji Iohara and Yoshiyuki Koga. Representation theory of the Virasoro algebra. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, London, 2011.
- [ILT15] Nikolai Iorgov, Oleg Lisovyy, and Jörg Teschner. Isomonodromic tau-functions from Liouville conformal blocks. Comm. Math. Phys., 336(2):671–694, 2015.
- [Jim86] Michio Jimbo. A q analog of $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{gl}(N+1))$, Hecke algebra, and the Yang-Baxter equation. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 11(3):247–252, 1986.
- [Jon85] Vaughan F. R. Jones. A polynomial invariant for knots via von Neumann algebras. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 12(1):103–111, 1985.

- [Kac79] Victor G. Kac. Contravariant form for the infinite-dimensional Lie algebras and superalgebras. In Lecture Notes in Physics, volume 94, pages 441–445. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1979.
- [Kac80] Victor G. Kac. Highest weight representations of infinite dimensional Lie algebras. In Proceedings of the ICM 1978, Helsinki, Finland, volume 1, pages 299–304. Acad. Sci. Fenn., 1980.
- [Kac98] Victor G. Kac. Vertex algebras for beginners, volume 10 of University Lecture Series. American Mathematical Society, 2nd edition, 1998.
- [Kas95a] Rinat M. Kashaev. A link invariant from quantum dilogarithm. Modern Phys. Lett. A, 10(19):1409– 1418, 1995.
- [Kas95b] Christian Kassel. *Quantum groups*, volume 155 of *Graduate texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, 1995.
- [Kas97] Rinat M. Kashaev. The hyperbolic volume of knots from the quantum dilogarithm. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 39(3):269–275, 1997.
- [Kau87] Louis H. Kauffman. State models and the Jones polynomial. *Topology*, 26(3):395–407, 1987.
- [Kau90] Louis H. Kauffman. An invariant of regular isotopy. *Trans. AMS*, 318:417–471, 1990.
- [Ken01] Richard W. Kenyon. Dominos and the Gaussian free field. *Ann. Probab.*, 29(3):1128–1137, 2001.
- [KKP19] Alex Karrila, Kalle Kytölä, and Eveliina Peltola. Conformal blocks, *q*-combinatorics, and quantum group symmetry. *Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré D*, 6(3):449–487, 2019.
- [KKP20] Alex Karrila, Kalle Kytölä, and Eveliina Peltola. Boundary correlations in planar LERW and UST. Comm. Math. Phys., 376(3):2065–2145, 2020.
- [KLPR24] Alex Karrila, Augustin Lafay, Eveliina Peltola, and Julien Roussillon. Planar UST branches and c = -2 degenerate boundary correlations. In preparation, 2024.
- [Kon87] Maxim Kontsevich. The Virasoro algebra and Teichmüller spaces. *Funct. Anal. Appl.*, 21(2):156–157, 1987.
- [Kon03] Maxim Kontsevich. CFT, SLE, and phase boundaries. In Oberwolfach Arbeitstagung, 2003.
- [KP16] Kalle Kytölä and Eveliina Peltola. Pure partition functions of multiple SLEs. Comm. Math. Phys., 346(1):237–292, 2016.
- [KR09] Kalle Kytölä and David Ridout. On staggered indecomposable Virasoro modules. J. Math. Phys, 50(12):123503, 2009.
- [KS07] Maxim Kontsevich and Yuri Suhov. On Malliavin measures, SLE, and CFT. P. Steklov I. Math., 258(1):100–146, 2007.
- [KW11] Richard W. Kenyon and David B. Wilson. Double-dimer pairings and skew Young diagrams. Electron. J. Combin., 18(1):130–142, 2011.
- [LL24] Augustin Lafay and Ian Le. In preparation, 2024.
- [LR24] Augustin Lafay and Julien Roussillon. Degenerate conformal blocks for the W_3 algebra at c = 2 and Specht polynomials. Preprint in arXiv:2402.12013, 2024.
- [LW21] Mingchang Liu and Hao Wu. Scaling limits of crossing probabilities in metric graph GFF. *Electron. J. Probab.*, 26(37):1–46, 2021.
- [Mar92] Paul Purdon Martin. On Schur-Weyl duality, A_n Hecke algebras and quantum sl(N) on $\otimes^{n+1}\mathbb{C}^N$. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A, 7(01b):645–673, 1992.
- [MM01] Hitoshi Murakami and Jun Murakami. The colored Jones polynomials and the simplicial volume of a knot. *Acta Math.*, 186(1):85–104, 2001.
- [MP24] Sid Maibach and Eveliina Peltola. From the conformal anomaly to the Virasoro algebra. Preprint in arXiv:2403.09628, 2024.
- [MS16] Jason Miller and Scott Sheffield. Imaginary geometry I: interacting SLEs. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 164(3-4):553–705, 2016.
- [NS10] Nikita A. Nekrasov and Samson L. Shatashvili. Quantization of integrable systems and four dimensional gauge theories. In *Proceedings of the 16th ICMP (2009)*, pages 265–289, Prague, 2010. World Scientific.
- [Pee75] Michael H. Peel. Specht modules and symmetric groups. J. Algebra, 36(1):88–97, 1975.
- [Pel19] Eveliina Peltola. Towards a conformal field theory for Schramm-Loewner evolutions. J. Math. Phys., 60(10):103305, 2019. Special issue (Proc. ICMP, Montreal, July 2018).
- [Pel20] Eveliina Peltola. Basis for solutions of the Benoit & Saint-Aubin PDEs with particular asymptotic properties. *Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré D*, 7(1):1–73, 2020.
- [PPR08] T. Kyle Petersen, Pavlo Pylyavskyy, and Brendon Rhoades. Promotion and cyclic sieving via webs. J. Algebraic Combin., 30:19–41, 2008.
- [PT87] Józef H. Przytycki and Paweł Traczyk. Conway algebras and skein equivalence of links. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 100:744–748, 1987.

- [PW19] Eveliina Peltola and Hao Wu. Global and local multiple SLEs for $\kappa \le 4$ and connection probabilities for level lines of GFF. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 366(2):469–536, 2019.
- [PW23] Eveliina Peltola and Hao Wu. Crossing probabilities of multiple Ising interfaces. *Ann. Appl. Probab.*, 33(4):3169–3206, 2023.
- [RSA14] David Ridout and Yvan Saint-Aubin. Standard modules, induction and the structure of the Temperley-Lieb algebra. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 18(5):957–1041, 2014.
- [Sch27] Issai Schur. Über die rationalen Darstellungen der allgemeinen linearen Gruppe, Sitzungsber. Preuß. Acad. Wiss., Phys.-Math. Kl., pages 58–75, 1927. In I. Schur, Gesammelte Abhandlungen III, 68-85, Springer, Berlin, 1973.
- [Sch08] Martin Schottenloher. A mathematical introduction to conformal field theory, volume 759 of Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 2nd edition, 2008.
- [Seg88] Graeme Segal. The definition of conformal field theory. In Differential geometrical methods in theoretical physics (Como, 1987), volume 250 of NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., pages 165–171. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1988.
- [Smi01] Stanislav Smirnov. Critical percolation in the plane: conformal invariance, Cardy's formula, scaling limits. *C. R. Acad. Sci.*, 333(3):239–244, 2001. (Updated 2009, see arXiv:0909.4499).
- [Smi06] Stanislav Smirnov. Towards conformal invariance of 2D lattice models. In *Proceedings of the ICM 2006, Madrid, Spain,* volume 2, pages 1421–1451. European Mathematical Society, 2006.
- [Spe35] Wilhelm Specht. Die irreduziblen Darstellungen der symmetrischen Gruppe. *Math. Z.,* 39:696–711, 1935.
- [SS13] Oded Schramm and Scott Sheffield. A contour line of the continuum Gaussian free field. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 157(1):47–80, 2013.
- [Tes11] Jörg Teschner. Quantization of the Hitchin moduli spaces, Liouville theory, and the geometric Langlands correspondence I. *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.*, 15:471–564, 2011.
- [TL71] H. Neville V. Temperley and Elliott H. Lieb. Relations between the "percolation" and "colouring" problem and other graph-theoretical problems associated with regular planar lattices: some exact results for the "percolation" problem. *Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A*, 322(1549):251–280, 1971.
- [Wen87] Hans Wenzl. On sequences of projections. C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Canada, 9(1):5–9, 1987.
- [Wey39] Hermann Weyl. *The Classical Groups. Their Invariants and Representations*. Princeton University Press, 1939.
- [You30] Alfred Young. On quantitative substitutional analysis (fourth paper). *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (2), 31(4):253–272, 1930.